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In thotisands of dollars except per share amounts 2012 2011 /o Change

Income Statement

Netsales $8950045 $8078185 10.8

Gross profit 3916 16o 3510792 11.5

As percent of net sales 43.8 435a

Operating earnings 131 125 0b2d 29

As percent of net sales 2bac 13

Earnings before income taxes.................................. 117789 1051527

As percent of net sales ....................................... 125 30o
Net earnings attnbutable to W.W Grainger lnc..................... $689881 $658423 48%

As percent of net sales.......... 77a 8la

Per Share

Earnings basic .................................................. $9.71 $9 26 4.9a

Earnings luted...................................................... $9.52 $9 07 5.0

Cash dvidends paid .............................................. $3.06 $2.52 21 4a

Average number of shares outstanding diluted.................... 71181 733 71176158 0.0o

Balance Sheet and Cash Flow

Working capital $1603748 $1438375 11

Cash flow from operations 816195 746108

Additions to property buildings and equipment not .................. 241330 189664 27W

Financial Ratios and Other Data

Return on average sharsholders equity..................................... 23.6 263%
Return on average total capitalization.................................. 20 22.2

Return on invested capital ROIC.......................................... 29.1 31 .9a

Number of branches 715 711

Number of employees.................................................... 22413 21446 4W
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In 2012 we made substantial investments in our foundation to help ensure that each of oui businesses

continues to grow profitably Graingers global supply chain and informator systems are part of that

foundation This past year we focused on improving the capacity and productivity of our network

Our new Midwest distribution center in the Chicago area began operations significantly adding

to our capacity The new facility will ultimate stock more than 500000 products and is

equ pped with goodstoperson technology system that drives productivity and ergonomic

benefits by bringing the products to team members

In Saskatoon Saskatchewan we relocated our existing distribution center to new larger

facility
to further meet the needs of our expanding customer base in this region We also

established consolidation center in Ontario to reduce inbound freight costs for our Canadian

bus ness and finalized plans for larger more modern distribution center in the Toronto area

Our joint venture in Japan MoriotaRO began construction of new office and warehouse that

is slated to open in 2013 The new facility
will span 450000 square feet and accommodate

more than 100000 additional products

We started the work of updating and replacing our information systems in Canada and Mex co

These investments will add exciting new capabilities to two already welPperforming businesses

Customers continue to ask Grainger for help reducing their costs and managing their invento

In 20 we cont nued to invest to grow the business through expanding our product and service

offering and extending our ieach

We know that strong customer relationships are critical to growth In 2012 we added new

sales representatives across our businesses in the United States Canada Mexico and Brazil

Sales representatives added in the past foui
years contributed percentage point to revenue

growth 2012

Product line expansion once again delivered strong returns this past year We added more

than 100000 new products to our total company offerng in 2012 providing more choices for

customers and greater competitive advantage

Helping customers manage their inventory is priority for our businesses in the United States

Canada Europe and Mexico as businesses seek new ways to become more productive Sale3

to customers who use our inventory solutions grow faster than customers wilhout this service

We added more than 10000 inventory management insta lations across our business

eComrncrce was again Graingers fastest growing channel in 2012 comprising more than

30 percent of total company sales Improving how customers find buy and manage their

inventory online was main focus for our eCommerce team

Having an ioternatonal presunce provides us both purchasing arid supply chain scae access

to new fash growing markets and the
ability

to share new ideas and expertise In 2012 we

continued to build our position across the globe and refined our strategy to focus on markets

that have the greatest potertial for longterm leadership and profitability

Our 123-yearold Canadian business surpassed $1 billion in sales and continued to

achieve doubledigit operating margins

In Europe Fabory managed through difficult economy by more closely aligning its

cost structure with the economic environment

We entered Brazil the largest MRO market in Latin America through the acauisition

of AnFreixo S.A
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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington D.C 20549

FORM 10-K

E1 ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15d OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31 2012

OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15d OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from _____ to _____

Commission File Number 1-5684

W.W Grainger Inc
Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter

Illinois 36-1150280

State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization I.R.S Employer Identification No

100 Grainger Parkway Lake Forest Illinois 60045-5201

Address of principal executive offices Zip Code

847 535-1000

Registrants telephone number including area code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12b of the Act

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered

Common Stock $0.50 par value New York Stock Exchange

Chicago Stock Exchange

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is well-known seasoned issuer as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act

Yes No _______

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15d of the Act

Yes _______ No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15d of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months or for such shorter period that the registrant was

required to file such reports and has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days

Yes No ______

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate website if any
every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T 232.405 of

this chapter during the preceding 12 months or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit

and post such files

Yes No ______

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein

and will not be contained to the best of registrants knowledge in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated

by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is large accelerated filer an accelerated filer non-accelerated filer

or smaller reporting company See the definitions of large accelerated filer accelerated filer and smaller reporting

company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer Non-accelerated filer Smaller reporting company

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is shell company as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act

Yes ______ No

The aggregate market value of the voting common equity held by nonaffiliates of the registrant was $12756537599
as of the close of trading as reported on the New York Stock Exchange on June 30 2012 The Company does not

have nonvoting common equity

The registrant had 69522640 shares of the Companys common stock outstanding as of January 31 2013

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of the proxy statement relating to the annual meeting of shareholders of the registrant to be held on

April 24 2013 are incorporated by reference into Part Ill hereof
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PART

Item Business

The Company

W.W Grainger Inc incorporated in the State of Illinois in 1928 is broad-line distributor of maintenance repair and

operating MRO supplies and other related products and services used by businesses and institutions primarily in the

United States and Canada with expanding global operations In this report the words Grainger or Company mean

W.W Grainger Inc and its subsidiaries

Grainger uses multichannel business model to provide customers with range of options for finding and purchasing

products utilizing sales representatives direct marketing materials catalogs and eCommerce Grainger serves

approximately million customers worldwide through network of highly integrated branches distribution centers

websites and export services

In 2012 Grainger acquired one business in the United States and one in Brazil Techni-Tool Inc business acquired

in the United States is specialist distributor serving manufacturers in the electronics telecommunications and

medical services industries AnFreixo S.A the business acquired in Brazil is former subsidiary of the Votorantim

Group and is broad-line distributor of MAO supplies in Brazil Results for both business are consolidated with

Grainger from the respective acquisition dates

Grainger has centralized business support functions that provide coordination and guidance in the areas of accounting

and finance business development communications and investor relations compensation and benefits information

systems health and safety global supply chain functions human resources risk management internal audit legal

real estate security tax and treasury These services are provided in varying degrees to all business units

Items are regularly added to and deleted from Graingers product lines on the basis of customer demand market

research recommendations of suppliers sales volumes and other factors

Graingers two reportable segments are the United States and Canada and they are described further below Other

businesses include operations in Europe Asia Latin America and other U.S operations These businesses generate

revenue through the distribution of maintenance repair and operating supplies and products and provide related

services For segment and geographical information and consolidated net sales and operating earnings see Item

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Note 16 to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

United States

The United States business offers broad selection of maintenance repair and operating supplies and other related

products and services through local branches sales representatives catalogs and the Internet combination of

product breadth local availability speed of delivery detailed product information and competitively priced products

and services is provided by this business Products offered include material handling equipment safety and security

supplies lighting and electrical products power and hand tools pumps and plumbing supplies cleaning and

maintenance supplies forestry and agriculture equipment building and home inspection supplies vehicle and fleet

components and many other items primarily focused on the facilities maintenance market Services offered include

inventory management and energy efficiency solutions

The United States business operates in all 50 states through network of 369 branches and sales representatives

The branches are located in close proximity to the majority of U.S businesses and serve the immediate needs of

customers in their local markets by allowing them to pick up items directly from the branches Branches range in size

from small branches to large master branches The branch network has approximately 4700 employees who primarily

fulfill counter and will-call product purchases and provide customer service An average branch is 23000 square feet

in size has 13 employees and handles about 170 transactions per day In the normal course of business Grainger

continually reviews the effectiveness of its branch network In 2012 three branches were opened and two branches

were closed

The logistics network in the United States is comprised of 15 distribution centers DC5 of various sizes Automated

equipment and processes in the larger DCs allow them to handle the majority of the customer shipping for next-day

product availability and replenish the branches that provide same day availability

Customers range from small and medium-sized businesses to large corporations government entities and other

institutions They are primarily represented by purchasing managers or workers in facilities maintenance departments

and service shops across wide range of industries such as manufacturing hospitality transportation government

retail healthcare and education Sales in 2012 were made to approximately 1.4 million customers averaging 106000

daily transactions No single customer accounted for more than 2% of total sales

The business has sales force of almost 2700 professionals who help businesses and institutions select the right

products to find immediate solutions to maintenance problems and to reduce operating expenses and improve cash
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flows The composition of the sales force changed during the year with more sales representatives focused on

acquiring additional business from existing medium-sized customers as well as acquiring new business across the

United States

Another area in which the United States business helps customers be more productive is through inventory

management services comprehensive program was launched in 2006 called KeepStock that includes on-site

services and vendor-managed inventory During the past several years the program has expanded to more than

20000 customers and approximately 40000 unique customer installations

Customers can also purchase products through Grainger.com More customers are migrating to online and electronic

purchasing and Grainger continues to enhance its eCommerce platform eCommerce revenues were $2.2 billion in

2012 an increase of 17% versus 2011 Grainger.com provides access to almost 950000 products and serves as

prominent channel for the United States business Grainger.com provides real-time price and product availability

and detailed product information and offers advanced features such as product search and compare capabilities

For customers with sophisticated electronic purchasing platforms Grainger utilizes technology that allows these

systems to communicate directly with Grainger.com Customers can also purchase products through several other

branded websites

The majority of the products sold by the United States business are well recognized national branded products In

addition 22% of 2012 sales were of private label items bearing Graingers registered trademarks such as DAYTON
motors power transmission HVAC and material handling SPEEDAIRE air compressors AIR HANDLER air filtration

equipment TOUGH GUY cleaning products WESTWARD tools CONDOR safety products and LUMAPRO lighting

products Grainger has taken steps to protect these trademarks against infringement and believes that they will

remain available for future use in its business The United States business purchases products for sale from more

than 2600 key suppliers most of which are manufacturers Through global sourcing operation the business procures

competitively priced high-quality products produced outside the United States from approximately 360 suppliers

Grainger sells these items primarily under the private label brands listed above No single supplier comprised more

than 5% of total purchases and no significant difficulty has been encountered with respect to sources of supply

The Grainger catalog most recently issued in February 2013 offers approximately 570000 facilities maintenance and

other products an increase of 160000 from the prior year and is used by customers to assist in product selection

Approximately million copies of the catalog were produced In addition Graingers United States business issues

targeted catalogs for its multiple branded products as well as other marketing materials

Grainger estimates the United States market for facilities maintenance and related products to be approximately

$118 billion of which Graingers share is approximately 6%

Canada

AcklandsGrainger is Canadas leading broad-line distributor of industrial and safety supplies combination of

product breadth local availability speed of delivery detailed product information and competitively priced products

and services is provided by this business

The Canadian business serves customers through 172 branches sales and service representatives and DCs across

Canada AcklandsGrainger distributes tools fasteners safety supplies instruments welding and shop equipment

and many other items During 2012 approximately 15500 sales transactions were completed daily comprehensive

catalog printed in both English and French was most recently issued in February 2013 The catalog has more than

116000 products and is used by customers to assist in product selection In addition customers can purchase

products through Acklandsgrainger.com fully bilingual website Grainger estimates the Canadian market for

facilities maintenance and related products to be approximately $14 billion of which AcklandsGraingers share is

approximately 8%

Other Businesses

Included in other businesses are the operations in Europe Asia Latin America and other U.S operations The more

significant businesses in this group are described below

Fabory

Fabory acquired in 2011 is European distributor of fasteners tools and industrial supplies Fabory is headquartered

in Tilburg the Netherlands and has more than 100 locations in 14 countries Customers have access to more than

90000 products through catalog and through Fabory.com Grainger estimates the European market in which

Fabory has its primary operations for facilities maintenance and related products to be approximately $35 billion

of which Graingers share is approximately 1%
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Japan

Grainger operates in Japan through its 52% interest in MonotaRO Co MonotaRO provides small and mid-sized

domestic businesses with products that help them operate and maintain their facilities MonotaRO is catalog and

web-based direct marketer with approximately 80% of orders being conducted through Monotaro.com MonotaRO has

no branches or sales force and fulfills all orders from two DCs Grainger estimates the Japanese market for facilities

maintenance and related products to be approximately $57 billion of which Graingers share is less than 1%

Mexico

Graingers operations in Mexico provide local businesses with maintenance repair and operating supplies and other

related products primarily from Mexico and the United States Mexico distributes products through network of

branches and one DC where customers have access to approximately 116000 products through Spanish-language

catalog and through Grainger.com.mx Grainger estimates the Mexican market for facilities maintenance and related

products to be approximately $10 billion of which Graingers share is approximately 1%

Brazil

In 2012 Grainger acquired 100% of the shares of AnFreixo S.A former subsidiary of the Votorantim Group

broad-line distributor of MRO supplies in Brazil This operation offers approximately 170000 products for sale

Grainger estimates the Brazilian market for facilities maintenance and related products to be approximately

$21 billion of which Graingers share is less than 1%

Seasonality

Graingers business in general is not seasonal however there are some products that typically sell more often during

the winter or summer season In any given month unusual weather patterns i.e unusually hot or cold weather could

impact the sales volumes of these products either positively or negatively

Competition

Grainger faces competition in all markets it serves from manufacturers including some of its own suppliers that sell

directly to certain segments of the market wholesale distributors catalog houses retail enterprises and Internet-based

businesses Grainger provides local product availability broad product line sales representatives competitive pricing

catalogs which include product descriptions and in certain cases extensive technical and application data and

electronic and Internet commerce technology Other services such as inventory management and energy efficiency

solutions to assist customers in lowering their total facilities maintenance costs are also offered Grainger believes

that it can effectively compete with manufacturers on small orders but manufacturers may have an advantage in filling

large orders There are several large competitors although the majority of the market is served by small local and

regional competitors

Employees

As of December 31 2012 Grainger had approximately 22400 employees of whom approximately 21100 were

full-time and 1300 were part-time or temporary Grainger has never had major work stoppage and considers

employee relations to be good

Website Access to Company Reports

Grainger makes available through its website free of charge its Annual Report on Form 10-K quarterly reports on

Form 10-0 current reports on Form 8-K proxy statements and amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably

practicable after this material is electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission

This material may be accessed by visiting grainger.com/investor

Item 1A Risk Factors

The following is discussion of significant risk factors relevant to Graingers business that could adversely affect its

financial position or results of operations

Weakness in the economy could negatively impact Graingers sales growth Economic and industry trends affect

Graingers business environments Economic downturns can cause customers both domestic and international to idle

or close facilities delay purchases and otherwise reduce their ability to purchase Graingers products and services as

well as their ability to make full and timely payments Thus significant or prolonged slowdown in economic activity

in the United States Canada or any other major world economy could negatively impact Graingers sales growth and

results of operations
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The facilities maintenance industry is highly fragmented and changes in competition could result in

decreased demand for Graingers products and services There are several large competitors in the industry

although most of the market is served by small local and regional competitors Grainger faces competition in all

markets it serves from manufacturers including some of its own suppliers that sell directly to certain segments of

the market wholesale distributors catalog houses retail enterprises and Internet-based businesses Competitive

pressures could adversely affect Graingers sales and profitability

Volatility in commodity prices may adversely affect operating margins Some of Graingers products contain

significant amounts of commodity-priced materials such as steel copper petroleum derivatives or rare earth

minerals and are subject to price changes based upon fluctuations in the commodities market Increases in the price

of fuel could also drive up transportation costs Graingers ability to pass on increases in costs depends on market

conditions The inability to pass along cost increases could result in lower operating margins In addition higher

prices could impact demand for these products resulting in lower sales volumes

Unexpected product shortages could negatively impact customer relationships resulting in an adverse

impact on results of operations Graingers competitive strengths include product selection and availability

Products are purchased from more than 4600 key suppliers located in various countries around the world no one of

which accounted for more than 5% of total purchases Historically no significant difficulty has been encountered with

respect to sources of supply however disruptions could occur due to factors beyond Graingers control such as

economic downturns political unrest trade issues etc any of which could adversely affect suppliers ability to

manufacture or deliver products If Grainger were to experience difficulty in obtaining products there could be

short-term adverse effect on results of operations and longer-term adverse effect on customer relationships and

Graingers reputation In addition Grainger has strategic relationships with key vendors In the event Grainger were

unable to maintain those relations there might be loss of competitive pricing advantages which could in turn

adversely affect results of operations

The addition of new product lines could impact future sales growth Grainger is continuing in multiyear product

line expansion program The continued success of this program is expected to be driver of growth Its success will

depend on Graingers ability to accurately forecast market demand obtain products from suppliers and effectively

integrate these products into the supply chain As such there is risk that the product line expansion program will

not deliver the expected results which could negatively impact anticipated future sales growth

Disruptions in Graingers supply chain could result in an adverse impact on results of operations disruption

within Graingers logistics or supply chain network including damage destruction and other events which would

cause one or more of the distribution centers to become non-operational could adversely affect Graingers ability

to deliver inventory in timely manner impair Graingers ability to meet customer demand for products and result in

lost sales or damage to Graingers reputation Such disruption could adversely impact the results of operations

Interruptions in the proper functioning of in formation systems could disrupt operations and cause

unanticipated increases in costs and/or decreases in revenues The proper functioning of Graingers information

systems including its websites is critical to the successful operation of its business Grainger continues to invest in

software hardware and network infrastructures in order to effectively manage its information systems and websites

Although Graingers information systems are protected with robust backup and security systems including physical

and software safeguards and remote processing capabilities information systems are still vulnerable to natural

disasters power losses computer viruses telecommunication failures and other problems If critical information

systems fail or otherwise become unavailable among other things Graingers ability to process orders maintain

proper levels of inventories collect accounts receivable and disburse funds could be adversely affected Any such

interruption of Graingers information systems could also subject Grainger to additional costs

Breaches of in formation systems security could damage Graingers reputation disrupt operations increase

costs and/or decrease revenues Through Graingers sales and eCommerce channels Grainger collects and stores

confidential information that customers provide to among other things purchase products or services enroll in

promotional programs and register on the website Grainger also acquires and retains information about suppliers

and employees in the normal course of business Despite instituted safeguards for the protection of such information

computer hackers may attempt to penetrate Graingers or its vendors information systems and if successful

misappropriate confidential customer supplier employee or other business information In addition Grainger

employee contractor or other third party with whom Grainger does business may attempt to circumvent security

measures in order to obtain such information or inadvertently cause breach involving such information Loss of

customer supplier employee or other business information could disrupt operations damage Graingers reputation

and expose Grainger to claims from customers suppliers financial institutions regulators payment card associations

employees and other persons any of which could have an adverse effect on Grainger its financial condition and
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results of operations In addition compliance with tougher privacy and information security laws and standards may
result in significant additional expense due to increased investment in technology and the development of new

operational processes

Fluctuations in foreign currency have an effect on reported results of operations Foreign currency exchange

rates and fluctuations have an impact on sales costs and cash flows from international operations and could affect

reported financial performance

Acquisitions involve number of inherent risks any of which could result in the benefits anticipated not being

realized and could have an adverse effect on results of operations Acquisitions both foreign and domestic

involve various inherent risks such as uncertainties in assessing the value strengths weaknesses liabilities and

potential profitability of acquired companies There is risk of potential losses of key employees of an acquired

business and of an inability to achieve identified operating and financial synergies anticipated to result from an

acquisition Additionally problems could arise from the integration of the acquired business including unanticipated

changes in the business or industry or general economic conditions that affect the assumptions underlying the

acquisition Any one or more of these factors could cause Grainger to not realize the benefits anticipated to result from

the acquisitions or have negative impact on the fair value of the reporting units Accordingly goodwill and intangible

assets recorded as result of acquisitions could become impaired

In order to compete Grainger must attract retain and motivate key employees and the failure to do so could

have an adverse effect on results of operations In order to compete and have continued growth Grainger must

attract retain and motivate executives and other key employees including those in managerial technical sales

marketing and support positions Grainger competes to hire employees and then must train them and develop their

skills and competencies Graingers operating results could be adversely affected by increased costs due to

increased competition for employees higher employee turnover or increased employee benefit costs

Graingers continued success is substantially dependent on positive perceptions of Graingers reputation

One of the reasons why customers choose to do business with Grainger and why employees choose Grainger as

place of employment is the reputation that Grainger has built over many years To be successful in the future Grainger

must continue to preserve grow and leverage the value of Graingers brand Reputational value is based in large part

on perceptions of subjective qualities Even an isolated incident or the aggregate effect of individually insignificant

incidents can erode trust and confidence particularly if they result in adverse publicity governmental investigations

or litigation and as result could tarnish Graingers brand and lead to adverse effects on Graingers business

Graingers business is subject to various government regulations Graingers business is subject to wide array of

laws and regulations in every jurisdiction where it operates and compliance with these laws and regulations increases

the cost of doing business Grainger is subject to variety of laws and regulations including without limitation import and

export requirements the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act tax laws including U.S taxes on foreign subsidiaries foreign

exchange controls and cash repatriation restrictions data privacy requirements labor laws and anti-competition

regulations and is also subject to audits and inquiries in the ordinary course of business As government contractor

selling to federal state and local government entities Grainger is also subject to wide variety of additional laws and

regulations Changes to the legal and regulatory environments could increase the cost of doing business and such costs

may increase in the future as result of changes in these laws and regulations or in their interpretation Furthermore

Grainger has implemented policies and procedures designed to facilitate compliance with these laws and regulations

but there can be no assurance that employees contractors or agents will not violate such laws and regulations or

Graingers policies Any such violations could individually or in the aggregate materially adversely affect Graingers

financial condition or operating results

Item Unresolved Staff Comments

None
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Item Properties

As of December 31 2012 Graingers owned and leased facilities totaled approximately 27 million square feet

an increase of approximately 2% from December 31 2011 The United States business and AcklandsGrainger

accounted for the majority of the total square footage Grainger believes that its properties are generally in excellent

condition well maintained and suitable for the conduct of business

brief description of significant facilities follows

Size in

Square Feet

Location Facility and Use in 000s

United States 369 United States branch locations 8357

United States 15 Distribution Centers 6699

United States Other facilities 3709

Canada 185 AcklandsGrainger facilities 2890

Other Businesses Other facilities 3923

Chicago Area Headquarters and General Offices 1349

Total Square Feet 26927

United States branches consist of 273 owned and 96 leased properties located throughout the U.S Branches range

in size from approximately 1400 to 109000 square feet Most leases expire between 2013 and 2020

These facilities are primarily owned

These facilities include both owned and leased locations consisting of storage facilities office space and idle

properties including one million square foot facility for new distribution center in Illinois Operations at this

facility began to be phased in during the fourth quarter of 2012 and will be fully operational in 2013

AcklandsGrainger facilities consist of general offices distribution centers and branches located throughout

Canada of which 64 are owned and 121 leased

These facilihes include owned and leased locations in Europe Asia Latin America and other U.S operations

Owned facilities are not subject to any mortgages

Item Legal Proceedings

Information on specific and significant legal proceedings is set forth in Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements included under Item

Item Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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PART II

Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases

of Equity Securities

Market Information and Dividends

Graingers common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange and the Chicago Stock Exchange with the ticker

symbol GWW The high and low sales prices for the common stock and the dividends declared and paid for each

calendar quarter during 2012 and 2011 are shown below

Prices

Quarters High Low Dividends

2012 First $221.84 $184.37 $0.66

Second 221.00 172.50 0.80

Third 211.36 176.50 0.80

Fourth 218.23 184.78 0.80

Year $221.84 $172.50 $3.06

2011 First $140.17 $129.01 $0.54

Second 154.68 137.75 0.66

Third 165.55 124.33 0.66

Fourth 193.21 141.36 0.66

Year $193.21 $124.33 $2.52

Grainger expects that its practice of paying quarterly dividends on its common stock will continue although the

payment of future dividends is at the discretion of Graingers Board of Directors and will depend upon Graingers

earnings capital requirements financial condition and other factors

Holders

The approximate number of shareholders of record of Graingers common stock as of January 31 2013 was 820 with

approximately 126300 additional shareholders holding stock through nominees

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities Fourth Quarter

Total Number of Maximum Number

Average Shares Purchased of Shares That May
Total Number Price as Part of Publicly Yet Be Purchased

of Shares Paid per Announced Plans Under the Plans

Period Purchased Share or Programs or Programs

Oct Oct 31 27500 202.46 27500 5564009 shares

Nov Nov 30 53489 191.00 53489 5510520 shares

Dec Dec 31 169851 194.56 169851 5340669 shares

Total 250840 194.67 250840

There were no shares withheld to satisfy tax withholding obligations

Average price paid per share includes any commissions paid and includes only those amounts related to

purchases as part of publicly announced plans or programs

Purchases were made pursuant to share repurchase program approved by Graingers Board of Directors on

July 28 2010 The program has no specified expiration date Activity is reported on trade date basis
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Company Performance

The following stock price performance graph compares the cumulative total return on an investment in Grainger

common stock with the cumulative total return of an investment in each of the Dow Jones US Industrial Suppliers Total

Stock Market Index and the SP 500 Stock Index It covers the period commencing December 31 2007 and ending

December 31 2012 The graph assumes that the value for the investment in Grainger common stock and in each

index was $100 on December 31 2007 and that all dividends were reinvested

Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return

Fiscal Year Ended December 31

December 31

W.W Grainger Inc

Dow Jones US Industrial Suppliers

Total Stock Market Index

SP 500 Stock Index

Item Selected Financial Data

Net sales

Net earnings attributable to

W.W Grainger Inc

Net earnings per basic share

Net earnings per
diluted share

Total assets

Long-term debt less current

maturities and other long-term

liabilities

Cash dividends paid per share

300

250

200

150

100

50

W.W Grainger Inc

Dow Jones us industrial

Suppliers Total Stock

Market index

SP 500 Stock index

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

$100 $92 $115 $167 $231 $253

100 78 98 137 176 198

100 63 80 92 94 109

2012 2011 2010 2009

In thousands of dollars except for per share amounts

$8950045 $8078185 $7182158 $6221991 $6850032

2008

689881

9.71

9.52

5014598

817229

3.06

658423

9.26

9.07

4716062

603858

2.52

510865

7.05

6.93

3904377

747404

2.08

430466

5.70

5.62

3726332

722334

1.78

475355

6.07

5.97

3515417

719878

1.55

Net earnings for 2012 included $0.66 per share expense related to the settlement of disputes involving the General

Services Administration GSA and United States Postal Service USPS contracts See Note 18 to the Consolidated

Financial Statements Results also included $0.18 per share expense due to restructuring charges primarily related

to improving the long-term performance of the businesses in Europe India and China $0.04 per share expense due

to an impairment charge and $0.03 per share expense related to U.S branch closures When combined these items

had net expense effect of $0.91 per share

Net earnings for 2011 included $0.16 per share expense for U.S branch closures $0.12 per share benefit related

to the settlement of prior year tax reviews and $0.07 per share benefit for gain on the sale of the MRO Korea Co
Ltd joint venture which when combined resulted in net benefit of $0.03 per share
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There were two non-cash items included in 2010 earnings $0.28 per share benefit from change to the paid time off

policy and $0.15 per share tax expense related to the tax treatment of retiree healthcare benefits following the passage

of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act which when combined resulted in net benefit of $0.13 per share

Results for 2009 included $0.37 per share non-cash gain from the MonotaRO transaction in September 2009

For further information see Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results

of Operations

Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview

General Grainger is broad-line distributor of maintenance repair and operating supplies and other related

products and services used by businesses and institutions Graingers operations are primarily in the United States

and Canada with an expanding presence in Europe Asia and Latin America Grainger uses multichannel business

model to provide customers with range of options for finding and purchasing products utilizing sales representatives

catalogs and direct marketing materials and eCommerce Grainger serves approximately million customers

worldwide through network of highly integrated branches distribution centers multiple websites and export services

Graingers two reportable segments are the United States and Canada The United States segment reflects the

results of Graingers U.S operating segment The Canada segment reflects the results for AcklandsGrainger Inc

Graingers Canadian operating segment Other Businesses include operations in Europe Asia Latin America and

other U.S operations which are not material individually

Business Environment Several economic factors and industry trends tend to shape Graingers business environment

The overall economy and leading economic indicators provide general insight into projecting Graingers growth

Graingers sales tend to correlate with Gross Domestic Product GDP Industrial Production Exports Business

Investment Business Inventory for the United States and Oil prices for Canada The table below provides these

estimated indicators for 2012 and 2013

United States Canada

Estimated Forecasted Estimated Forecasted

2012 2013 2012 2013

GDP 2.2% 1.9% 1.9% 1.6%

Industrial Production 3.7% 2.4% 0.5% 0.3%

Exports 3.2% 2.4% 3.4% 3.5%

Business Investment 7.7% 3.8% 5.4% 4.4%

Business Inventory 2.5% 2.2%

Oil prices $102/barrel $95/barrel

Source GIoba Insight February 2013

The Bureau of Economic Analysis reported the GDP advance estimate released on January 30 2013 decreased at

an annual rate of 0.1% in the fourth quarter of 2012 Graingers results reflected this as sales growth slowed in the

fourth quarter particularly with sudden decrease in sales the last third of December Sequentially Graingers sales

growth declined in each of the four quarters of 2012

The light and heavy manufacturing customer sectors which comprised approximately 27% of Graingers total

2012 sales have historically correlated with manufacturing employment levels and manufacturing production

Manufacturing employment levels in the United States increased approximately 1.5% from December 2011 to

December 2012 while manufacturing output increased 1.5% These increases contributed to low double-digit

percent increase in the heavy manufacturing customer sector and high single-digit percent increase in the light

manufacturing customer sector for Grainger in 2012

Outlook During 2013 Grainger plans to continue to make investments in growth drivers such as sales force and

product line expansion eCommerce inventory management services and international expansion

While indicators on macro basis point to softer economy in 2013 Grainger believes it will continue to outperform

these metrics On January 24 2013 Grainger reiterated the 2013 earnings per share guidance of $10.85 to $12.00

and raised the 2013 sales guidance to new range of to percent growth Graingers previous 2013 sales

guidance was to percent growth issued on November 14 2012 The increase in sales guidance reflects the

December 31 2012 acquisition of Techni-Tool Inc which had sales of $88 million in 2011

Matters Affecting Comparability There were 255 sales days in 2012 255 in 2011 and 254 in 2010

Grainger completed several acquisitions throughout 2012 and 2011 all of which were immaterial individually and in

the aggregate Graingers operating results have included the results of each business acquired since the respective

acquisition dates
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Results of Operations

The following table is included as an aid to understanding changes in Graingers Consolidated Statements of Earnings

For the Years Ended December 31

Percent

ncrease/ Decrease

As Percent of Net Sales from Prior Year

2012 2011 2010 2012 2011

Net sales 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 10.8% 12.5%

Cost of merchandise sold 56.2 56.5 58.2 10.2 9.4

Gross profit 43.8 43.5 41.8 11.5 16.8

Operating expenses 31.2 30.5 29.9 13.3 14.6

Operating earnings 12.6 13.0 11.9 7.5 22.3

Other income expense 0.1 0.1 86.5

Income taxes 4.7 4.5 4.7 8.8 13.2

Noncontrolling interest 0.1 0.1 12.3 194.0

Net earnings attributable to

W.W Grainger Inc 7.7% 8.1% 7.1% 4.8% 28.9%

2012 Compared to 2011

Graingers net sales of $8950 million for 2012 increased 11% when compared with net sales of $8078 million for

2011 The 11% daily increase for the year consisted of the following contributors

Percent lncrease/Decrease

Volume 6%
Business acquisitions

Price 3%

Foreign exchange 1%

Total 11%

Sales to all customer end-markets increased for 2012 The increase in net sales was led by growth in sales to heavy

and light manufacturing customers followed by diversified commercial services customers Refer to the Segment

Analysis below for further details

Gross profit of $3916 million for 2012 increased 12% The gross profit margin for 2012 was 43.8% up 0.3 percentage

points versus 2011 primarily driven by price increases exceeding product cost increases partially offset by customer mix

Operating expenses of $2785 million for 2012 increased 13% from $2458 million for 2011 Operating expenses in 2012

included $76 million expense related to the settlement of disputes involving the GSA and USPS contracts Also included

was $24 million of expense related to branch closure costs restructuring charges related to improving the long-term

performance of the businesses in Europe India and China and an impairment charge for Grainger Lighting Services

formerly known as Alliance Energy Solutions an acquisition completed in November 2009 The year 2011 included

$18 million of branch closure costs Excluding these expenses from both years operating expenses increased 10%

primarily driven by the Fabory and AnFreixo acquisitions and incremental growth-related spending on new sales

representatives eCommerce and advertising primarily in the United States

Operating earnings of $1131 million for 2012 increased 7% from $1052 million for 2011 Excluding the expenses

mentioned above for both years operating earnings increased 15% primarily due to higher sales and gross profit

margins and operating expenses increasing at slightly slower rate than sales

Net earnings attributable to Grainger for 2012 increased by 5% to $690 million from $658 million in 2011 The increase in

net earnings primarily resulted from an increase in operating earnings Diluted earnings per share of $9.52 in 2012 were

5% higher than $9.07 for 2011 due to increased net earnings
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The table below reconciles reported diluted earnings per share determined in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles in the United States to adjusted diluted earnings per share non-GAAP measure Management
believes adjusted diluted earnings per share is an important indicator of operations because it excludes items that

may not be indicative of core operating results Because non-GAAP financial measures are not standardized it

may not be possible to compare this financial measure with other companies non-GAAP financial measures having

the same or similar names

Twelve Months Ended

December 31

2012 2011 Percent

Diluted earnings per share reported 9.52 $9.07 5%
GSAUSPS settlement 0.66

Restructuring 0.18

Goodwill impairment 0.04

Charge for U.S branch closures 0.03 0.16

Settlement of prior year tax reviews 0.12
Gain on sale of joint venture

______
0.07

Subtotal 0.91 0.03

Diluted earnings per share adjusted $10.43 $9.04 15%

Segment Analysis

The following comments at the reportable segment and other business unit level include external and intersegment net

sales and operating earnings See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

United States

Net sales were $6926 million for 2012 an increase of $425 million or 7% when compared with net sales of

$6501 million for 2011 The 7% daily increase for the year consisted of the following contributors

Percent lncrease/Decrease

Volume 4%
Price 3%

Total 7%

Sales to all customer end-markets increased for 2012 The increase was led by growth in sales to heavy and light

manufacturing customers followed by diversified commercial services customers

The segment gross profit margin increased 0.3 percentage points in 2012 over 2011 primarily driven by price

increases exceeding product cost increases partially offset by customer mix

Operating expenses were up 8% for 2012 versus 2011 The 2012 year included $76 million expense related to the

settlement of disputes involving the GSA and USPS contracts Also included was $10 million of expense primarily

related to branch closure costs and an impairment charge for Grainger Lighting Services formerly known as Alliance

Energy Solutions an acquisition completed in November 2009 The 2011 year included costs for the closure of 35

branches of $18 million Excluding these expenses from both years operating expenses increased 4% primarily driven

by an incremental $70 million in growth-related spending on new sales representatives eCommerce and advertising

For the segment operating earnings of $1133 million for 2012 increased 6% over $1066 million in 2011 Excluding

the expenses mentioned above in both years operating earnings were up 12% The improvement in operating

earnings for 2012 was due to an increase in net sales and gross profit margin and operating expenses increasing

at slower rate than sales

Canada

Net sales were $1106 million for 2012 an increase of $113 million or 11% when compared with $993 million for

2011 In local currency daily sales increased 12% for 2012 The 11% daily increase for the year consisted of the

following contributors

Percent lncrease/Decrease

Volume 11

Price

Foreign exchange 1%
Total 11
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The increase in net sales was led by growth to oil and gas commercial and construction customers

The gross profit margin increased 0.2 percentage points in 2012 over 2011 primarily driven by price increases

exceeding product cost increases partially offset by unfavorable customer and product mix

Operating expenses increased 9% in 2012 In local currency operating expenses increased 10% primarily due to higher

volume-related payroll and travel costs and higher advertising and depreciation expense partially offset by lower

occupancy costs

Operating earnings of $127 million for 2012 were up $20 million or 18% versus 2011 In local currency operating

earnings increased 19% The increase in earnings was due to strong sales growth an improved gross profit margin and

expense leverage

Other Businesses

Net sales for other businesses which include operations in Europe Asia Latin America and other US operations

were up 55% for 2012 The sales increase was due primarily to full year of sales from Fabory acquired in August

2011 and incremental sales from AnFreixo acquired in April 2012 as well as strong growth from the businesses in

Japan and Mexico

Operating earnings for other businesses were $20 million for 2012 compared to $31 million for 2011 The decrease was

primarily due to restructuring charges related to improving the long-term performance of the businesses in Europe India

and China Excluding these charges operating earnings were up $3 million primarily driven by improved performance in

Japan and Mexico partially offset by losses from the acquired businesses in Europe and Brazil along with losses in

some start-up businesses in developing markets

Other Income and Expense

Other income and expense was $13 million of expense in 2012 compared with $1 million of expense in 2011 The

following table summarizes the components of other income and expense in thousands of dollars

Interest income expense net

Equity in net income of unconsolidated entities

Gain on sale of investment in unconsolidated entity

Other non-operating income

Other non-operating expense

For the Years Ended

December 31

314

7639

1866 709

1784 2541

$13336 902

Net interest expense increased in 2012 due to higher average debt outstanding higher average interest rates and

interest expense related to capital leases for the acquired business in Europe

In 2011 Grainger divested its 49% ownership in the MAO Korea Co Ltd joint venture resulting in gain of

approximately $8 million

Income Taxes

Income taxes of $419 million in 2012 increased 9% as compared with $385 million in 2011 Graingers effective tax

rates were 37.5% and 36.6% in 2012 and 2011 respectively The 2011 rate benefited from tax law change in Japan

and the settlement of various tax reviews Excluding these benefits in 2011 the effective tax rate was 38.1% The

effective tax rate in 2012 benefited primarily from lower blended state tax rate Grainger is currently projecting an

effective tax rate of 37.3% to 37.7% for 2013

2011 Compared to 2010

Graingers net sales of $8078 million for 2011 increased 13% when compared with net sales of $7182 million for

2010 There was one more selling day in 2011 versus 2010 The 12% daily increase for the year consisted of the

following contributors

Volume

Business acquisitions

Price

Foreign exchange

Oil spill cleanup in the Gulf of Mexico

Percent lncrease/Decrease

Total 12%

2012

$13418

2011

$7023

io

0/
/0

0/
/0

-1 0/
/0

\0/
/0
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Sales to all customer end-markets except one increased for 2011 The overall increase in net sales was led by

mid-teen percent increase to heavy manufacturing customers followed by high single-digit increase in light

manufacturing The agriculture and mining customer end-market declined due to the difficult comparison from the oil

spill in 2010 Refer to the Segment Analysis below for further details

Gross profit of $3511 million for 2011 increased 17% The gross profit margin for 2011 was 43.5% up 1.7 percentage

points versus 2010 The gross profit margin was favorably affected by price increases exceeding product cost

increases decline in sales of low margin sourced products and lower excess and obsolete inventory requirements

Operating expenses of $2458 million for 2011 increased 15% from $2145 million for 2010 Operating expenses

increased primarily driven by volume-related costs expenses from the Fabory acquisition and incremental spending

on Graingers growth programs The 2011 year also included approximately $18 million of costs related to the closure

of branches in the United States In addition 2010 benefited by $33 million from paid time off policy change which

reduced the related liability

Operating earnings of $1052 million for 2011 increased 22% from $860 million for 2010 The increase in operating

earnings was due to higher sales and an improved gross profit margin partially offset by operating expenses

increasing at faster rate than sales

Net earnings attributable to Grainger for 2011 increased by 29% to $658 million from $511 million in 2010 The

increase in net earnings for 2011 primarily resulted from an increase in operating earnings Diluted earnings per share

of $9.07 in 2011 were 31% higher than $6.93 for 2010 due to increased net earnings and fewer shares outstanding

The table below reconciles reported diluted earnings per share determined in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles in the United States to adjusted diluted earnings per share non-GAAP measure Management
believes adjusted diluted earnings per share is an important indicator of operations because it excludes items that

may not be indicative of core operating results Because non-GAAP financial measures are not standardized it may
not be possible to compare this financial measure with other companies non-GAAP financial measures having the

same or similar names

Twelve Months Ended

December 31

2011 2010 Percent

Diluted earnings per share reported 9.07 $6.93 31%
Charge for U.S branch closures 0.16

Settlement of prior year tax reviews 0.12
Gain on sale of joint venture 0.07
Paid time off policy change 0.28
Write-down of deferred tax asset 0.15

Subtotal 0.03 0.13

Diluted earnings per share adjusted 9.04 $6.80 33%

Segment Analysis

The following comments at the reportable segment and other business unit level include external and intersegment

net sales and operating earnings See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

United States

Net sales were $6501 million for 2011 an increase of $481 million or 8% when compared with net sales of

$6020 million for 2010 The 8% daily increase for the year consisted of the following contributors

Percent lncrease/Decrease

Volume 7%
Price

Gulf of Mexico 2010 oil spill cleanup 2%
Total 8%

Sales to all customer end-markets except one increased for 2011 The overall increase in net sales was led by mid-teen

percent increase to heavy manufacturing customers and high single-digit increase to light manufacturing customers

The agriculture and mining customer end-market declined due to the difficult comparisons from the oil
spill

in 2010

The segment gross profit margin increased 1.7 percentage points in 2011 over 2010 The gross profit margin

benefited from price increases exceeding product cost increases decline in sales of low margin sourced products
and lower excess and obsolete inventory requirement
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Operating expenses were up 10% for 2011 versus 2010 Operating expenses increased driven by volume and growth-

related spending including new sales representatives eCommerce advertising and incremental expenses for the new

distribution center in northern California The 2011 year also included costs for the closure of 35 branches In addition

2010 included $30 million benefit that resulted from paid time off policy change which reduced the related liability

Excluding the branch closure costs from 2011 and the 2010 benefit operating expenses increased 7%

For the segment operating earnings of $1066 million for 2011 increased 16% over $920 million in 2010 The

improvement in operating earnings for 2011 was due to an increase in net sales and gross profit margin partially

offset by operating expenses increasing at faster rate than sales

Canada

Net sales were $993 million for 2011 an increase of $172 million or 21% when compared with $821 million for 2010

Daily sales were up 20% In local currency daily sales increased 15% for 2011 The 20% daily increase for the year

consisted of the following contributors

Percent lncrease/Decrease

Volume 12%

Foreign exchange 5%

Acquisitions 3%

Total 20%

The increase in net sales was led by growth to heavy manufacturing retail oil and gas and agriculture and mining

customers

The gross profit margin increased 2.3 percentage points in 2011 over 2010 primarily driven by lower product costs

and stronger sales of private label products which carry higher margins

Operating expenses increased 10% in 2011 In local currency operating expenses increased 5% primarily due to

increased payroll and benefits costs driven by higher bonus expense headcount and incremental costs for

acquisitions made over the last year Non-payroll related expenses also increased driven by volume-related

occupancy and warehouse costs

Operating earnings of $108 million for 2011 were up $61 million or 130% versus 2010 In local currency operating

earnings increased 121% due to higher sales an improved gross profit margin and operating expenses increasing at

slower rate than sales

Other Businesses

Net sales for other businesses which include operations in Europe Asia Latin America and other U.S operations were

up 66% for 2011 The increase in net sales was due primarily to Fabory acquired in August of 2011 along with strong

growth from all the other international businesses Operating earnings for other businesses were $31 million for 2011

compared to $12 million for 2010 The increase was primarily driven by improved performance in Japan and Mexico

Other Income and Expense

Other income and expense was $1 million of expense in 2011 compared with $7 million of expense in 2010 The

following table summarizes the components of other income and expense in thousands of dollars

For the Years Ended

December 31

2011 2010

Interest income expense net $7023 $6972

Equity in net income loss of unconsolidated entity
314 182

Gain on sale of investment in unconsolidated entity
7639

Other non-operating income 709 1608

Other non-operating expense 2541 1151

902 $6697

The reduction in net expense was primarily attributable to gain of $8 million in the fourth quarter of 2011 related to

the divestiture of Graingers 49% ownership in the MAO Korea Co Ltd joint venture
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Income Taxes

Income taxes of $385 million in 2011 increased 13% as compared with $340 million in 2010 Graingers effective tax

rates were 36.6% and 39.8% in 2011 and 2010 respectively The 2011 rate benefited from tax law change in Japan

and the settlement of various tax reviews The 2010 effective tax rate included tax expense related to the U.S

healthcare legislation enacted in the first quarter of 2010 Excluding these items in both years the effective tax rate for

2011 was 38.1% compared to 39.1% in 2010 primarily the result of lower state tax expense and higher earnings in

foreign jurisdictions with lower tax rates in 2011

Financial Condition

Grainger expects its strong working capital position cash flows from operations and borrowing capacity to continue

allowing it to fund its operations including growth initiatives capital expenditures acquisitions and repurchase of

shares as well as to pay cash dividends

Cash Flow

Fiscal year 2012 compared with fiscal year 2011

Cash from operating activities continues to serve as Graingers primary source of liquidity Net cash flows from

operations in 2012 were $816 million and increased $70 million from $746 million in 2011 The primary driver of the

improvement was an increase in net earnings of $32 million as well as an increase of $38 million in net non-cash

expenses

Net cash used in investing activities of $306 million in 2012 was driven by net cash expended for property buildings

equipment and software of $241 million and net cash paid for business acquisitions of $65 million Additional

information regarding capital spending is detailed in the Capital Expenditures section below Net cash used in

investing activities was $229 million less than in 2011 due primarily to decrease in net cash paid for business

acquisitions of $294 million versus 2011

Net cash used in financing activities of $394 million in 2012 increased $217 million from $177 million in 2011 The

increase was primarily due to higher treasury shares repurchases and higher dividends paid in 2012 versus 2011
Cash paid for treasury share purchases was $341 million in 2012 versus $151 million in 2011 an increase of $190

million Cash dividends paid were $220 million in 2012 an increase of $39 million versus 2011

Fiscal year 2011 compared with fiscal year 2010

Cash from operating activities served as Graingers primary source of liquidity Net cash flows from operations in 2011

were $746 million and increased $150 million from $596 million in 2010 The primary driver of the improvement was an

increase in net earnings of $153 million Higher accounts receivable and inventory balances driven by growth in sales

volumes and new distribution center in northern California partially offset by an increase in accounts payable
reduced the operating cash flow from net earnings

Net cash used in investing activities of $535 million in 2011 was driven by net cash expended for property buildings

equipment and software of $190 million and net cash paid for business acquisitions of $359 million Additional

information regarding capital spending is detailed in the Capita/ Expenditures section below Net cash used in

investing activities was $366 million more than in 2010 due primarily to an increase in net cash paid for business

acquisitions of $297 million versus 2010

Net cash used in financing activities of $177 million in 2011 decreased $401 million from $579 million in 2010 The

decrease was primarily due to lower treasury shares repurchases in 2011 versus 2010 Cash paid for treasury share

purchases was $151 million in 2011 versus $505 million in 2010 reduction of $354 million

Working Capital

Internally generated funds are the primary source of working capital and funds used in business expansion

supplemented by debt In addition funds are expended to support growth initiatives as well as for business and

systems development and other infrastructure improvements

Working capital consists of current assets less non-operating cash and current liabilities less short-term debt and

current maturities of long-term debt Working capital was $1604 million at December 31 2012 compared with

$1438 million at December 31 2011 At these dates the ratio of current assets to current liabilities was 2.6 and 2.4

respectively The $166 million increase in working capital and higher current ratio was primarily related to higher

accounts receivable and inventory balances lower accrued compensation and benefits and lower accounts payable
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Capital Expenditures

In each of the past three years portion of operating cash has been used for additions to property buildings

equipment and capitalized software as summarized in the following table in thousands of dollars

For the Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Land buildings structures and improvements 57929 51249 61001

Furniture fixtures machinery and equipment 145483 118228 50152

Subtotal 203412 169477 111153

Capitalized software 46448 27465 15971

Total $249860 $196942 $127124

In 2012 significant capital investments were made to build new distribution centers in the United States and for distribution

center expansion in Canada In addition Grainger continued to invest in the improvement of the eCommerce platform new

and existing international businesses and for the normal recurring replacement of equipment

In 2011 significant expenditures were made to build new distribution centers in the United States and for distribution

center expansion in Canada Also large investment was made to update and improve The eCommerce platform in the

United States business Finally Grainger continued to invest in new and existing international businesses as well as for

normal recurring replacement of equipment

In 2010 significant capital expenditures included investments in the distribution center network in the U.S and Canada

Additional expenditures were for normal recurring replacement of equipment

In 2013 capital expenditures are expected to range from $280 million to $350 million Projected spending includes

continued investments in the supply chain technology infrastructure and in eCommerce Grainger expects to fund 2013

capital spending from operating cash

Debt

Grainger maintains debt ratio and liquidity position that provides flexibility in funding working capital needs and long-

term cash requirements In addition to internally generated funds Grainger has various sources of financing available

including bank borrowings under lines of credit Refer to Note and Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

included in Item Total debt as percent of total capitalization was 15.3% and 15.9% as of December 31 2012 and

2011 respectively The reduction in total debt as percent of total capitalization was primarily due to increased

retained earnings associated with strong earnings in 2012 Grainger believes any circumstances that would trigger

early payment or acceleration with respect to any outstanding debt obligations would not have material impact on

its results of operations or financial position

Commitments and Other Contractual Obligations

At December 31 2012 Graingers contractual obligations including estimated payments due by period are as follows

in thousands of dollars

Payments Due by Period

Total

Amounts Less than 13 45 More than

Committed Year Years Years Years

Debt obligations 564644 97596 62136 $389964 14948

Interest on debt 39408 12679 15920 7955 2854

Operating lease obligations 231687 54456 87554 50521 39156

Purchase obligations

Uncompleted additions to property

buildings and equipment 85475 78560 6915

Commitments to

purchase inventory 352795 352795

Other purchase obligations 204869 145992 58194 683

Other liabilities 344190 176068 21465 23088 123569

Total $1823068 $918146 $252184 $472211 $180527

Purchase obligations for inventory are made in the normal course of business to meet operating needs While purchase

orders for both inventory purchases and non-inventory purchases are generally cancelable without penalty certain

vendor agreements provide for cancellation fees or penalties depending on the terms of the contract
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Other liabilities represent future payments for profit sharing plans and employee benefits plans as determined by

actuarial projections and other employee benefit plans Other employment-related benefits costs of $45 million have

not been included in this table as the timing of benefit payments is not statistically predictable See Note to the

Consolidated Financial Statements

See also Note and Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further detail related to the interest on

long-term debt and operating lease obligations respectively

Grainger has recorded noncurrent
liability

of approximately $43 million for tax uncertainties and interest at December
31 2012 This amount is excluded from the table above as Grainger cannot make reliable estimates of these cash flows

by period See Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Grainger does not have any material exposures to off-balance sheet arrangements Grainger does not have any
variable interest entities or activities that include non-exchange-traded contracts accounted for at fair value

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States of America requires management to make judgments estimates and assumptions that affect the reported

amounts of assets liabilities revenues and expenses in the financial statements Management bases its estimates

on historical experience and other assumptions which it believes are reasonable If actual amounts are ultimately

different from these estimates the revisions are included in Graingers results of operations for the period in which

the actual amounts become known

Accounting policies are considered critical when they require management to make assumptions about matters that

are highly uncertain at the time the estimates are made and when there are different estimates that management
reasonably could have made which would have material impact on the presentation of Graingers financial

condition changes in financial condition or results of operations

Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements describes the significant accounting policies used in the preparation
of the Consolidated Financial Statements The most significant areas involving management judgments and estimates

follow Actual results in these areas could differ materially from managements estimates under different assumptions
or conditions

Allowance for DoubtfulAccounts Grainger considers several factors to estimate the allowance for uncollectible

accounts receivable including the age of the receivables the percent past due and the historical ratio of actual write

offs to the age of the receivables The analyses performed also take into consideration economic conditions that may
have an impact on specific industry group of customers or specific customer Based on analysis of actual

historical write-offs of uncollectible accounts receivable Graingers estimates and assumptions have been materially

accurate in regards to the valuation of its allowance for doubtful accounts However write-offs could be materially

different than the reserves established if business or economic conditions change or actual results deviate from

historical trends and Graingers estimates and assumptions may be revised as appropriate to reflect these changes
For fiscal years 2012 2011 and 2010 actual results did not vary materially from estimated amounts

Inventory Reserves Grainger establishes inventory reserves for obsolete inventory Grainger regularly reviews

inventory to evaluate continued demand and identify any obsolete or excess quantities Grainger records provisions

for the difference between excess and obsolete inventory and its estimated realizable value Estimated realizable

value is based on anticipated future product demand market conditions and liquidation values As Graingers

inventory consists of approximately .2 million stocked products it is not practical to quantify the actual disposition
of excess and obsolete inventory against estimated amounts at SKU level and no individual SKU is material There

were no material differences noted between reserve levels compared to the level of write-offs historically Graingers

methodology for estimating reserves is continually evaluated based on current experience and the methodology

provides for materially accurate level of reserves at any reporting date Actual results could differ materially from

projections and require changes to reserves which could have material effect on Graingers results of operations

based on significant changes in product demand market conditions or liquidation value If business or economic

conditions change Graingers estimates and assumptions may be revised as appropriate For fiscal years 2012
2011 and 2010 actual results did not vary materially from estimated amounts

Goodwill and Indefinite Lived Intangible Assets Graingers business acquisitions result in the recording of goodwill

and identified intangible assets which affect the amount of amortization expense and possibly impairment write-downs

that may occur in future periods Grainger annually reviews goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite lives for

impairment in the fourth quarter and when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of these

assets might exceed their current fair values Grainger tests for goodwill impairment at the reporting unit level and first

performs qualitative assessment of factors such as reporting units current performance and overall economic

factors to determine if it is more likely than not that the goodwill might be impaired and whether it is necessary to

perform the two-step quantitative goodwill impairment test Grainger completed the annual impairment testing using
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the qualitative approach for all of its reporting units and the two-step quantitative test for two of its reporting units

Grainger recorded an impairment of $4 million reducing the carrying value of goodwill to $13 million for one of them

The estimated fair value of the other reporting unit with the carrying value of goodwill of $125 million exceeded its

carrying value and no indication of impairment existed as of the test date

Grainger uses the discounted cash flow method to derive the fair value of reporting unit The discounted cash flow

method requires considerable management judgment assumptions and estimates regarding future profitability and

cash flows of its reporting units and general market conditions including terminal growth rate and discount rate

assumptions Due to the inherent uncertainties associated with these unobservable Level inputs the results of these

tests may differ and impairment charges could occur in future periods While Grainger will continue to consider the

economic environment and other pertinent factors that may have an adverse effect on its reporting units there can

be no assurance that Graingers estimates and assumptions regarding forecasted cash flows or other inputs used in

forecasting the fair value of future cash flows will prove to be accurate prolections

Stock Incentive Plans Grainger maintains stock incentive plans under which variety of incentive grants may be

awarded to employees and directors Grainger uses binomial lattice option pricing model to estimate the fair value

of stock option grants The model requires projections of the risk-free interest rate expected life volatility expected

dividend yield and forfeiture rate of the stock option grants The fair value of options granted used the following

assumptions
For the Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Risk-free interest rate 1.1% 2.6% 2.9%

Expected life years years years

Expected volatility
25.9% 24.6% 24.7%

Expected dividend yield
1.6% 1.8% 2.0%

The risk-free interest rate is selected based on yields from U.S Treasury zero-coupon issues with remaining term

approximately equal to the expected term of the options being valued The expected life selected for options granted

during each year presented represents the period of time that the options are expected to be outstanding based on

historical data of option holders exercise and termination behavior Expected volatility is based upon implied and

historical volatility of the closing price of Graingers stock over period equal to the expected life of each option

grant Historical information is also the primary basis for selection of the expected dividend yield assumptions

Because stock option compensation expense is based on awards ultimately expected to vest it has been reduced

for estimated forfeitures using historical forfeiture experience The amount of stock option compensation expense

is significantly affected by the valuation model and these assumptions If different valuation model or different

assumptions were used the stock option compensation expense could be significantly different from what is

recorded in the current period

Compensation expense for other stock-based awards is based upon the closing market price on the last trading

date preceding the date of the grant Because the expense for other stock-based awards should reflect the awards

ultimately expected to vest it has been reduced for estimated forfeitures using historical forfeiture experience

For additional information concerning stock incentive plans see Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Postretirement Hea/thcare Benefits Postretirement healthcare obligation and net periodic cost are dependent on

assumptions and estimates used in calculating such amounts The assumptions used include among others discount

rates assumed rates of return on plan assets and healthcare cost trend rates and certain employee-related factors

such as turnover retirement age and mortality rates Changes in these and other assumptions caused by conditions

in equity markets or plan experience for example could have material effect on Graingers postretirement benefit

obligation and expense and could affect its results of operations and financial condition These changes in

assumptions may also affect voluntary decisions to make additional contributions to the trust established for

funding the postretirement benefit obligation

The discount rate assumptions used by management reflect the rates available on high-quality fixed income debt

instruments as of December 31 the measurement date of each year lower discount rate increases the present

value of benefit obligations and net periodic benefit costs As of December 31 2012 Grainger decreased the discount

rate used in the calculation of the postretirement plan obligation from 4.5% to 4.0% to reflect the decrease in market

interest rates Grainger estimates that this decrease could reduce 2013 pretax earnings by approximately $5 million

However other changes in assumptions may increase decrease or eliminate this effect

Grainger considers the long-term historical actual return on plan assets and the historical performance of the Standard

Poors 500 Index and the Total International Composite Index in developing its expected long-term return on plan

assets In 2012 Grainger maintained the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets of 6.0% net of tax based

on the historical average of long-term rates of return
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percentage point change in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have had the following effects on

December 31 2012 results in thousands of dollars

Percentage Point

Increase Decrease

Effect on total of service and interest cost 8909 6670
Effect on accumulated postretirement benefit obligation 35541 28647

During the fourth quarter 2012 Grainger implemented an Employer Group Waiver Plan EGWP and secondary

supplemental wrap-around plan for its Medicare eligible retiree medical plan participants and the Part Retiree

Drug Subsidy RDS was eliminated effective January 2013 As result of the implementation of the EGWP program
the benefit obligation is no longer reduced by Part RDS as of December 31 2012 The EGWP program does not

alter the benefits expected to be provided to the plan participants and is recognized as an actuarial gain for the year

ended December 31 2012 As result of this change Graingers postretirement benefit obligation was reduced by

$19 million as of December 31 2012 Grainger estimates that this change could increase 2013 pretax earnings by

approximately $5 million

During the fourth quarter 2012 Grainger also implemented plan design changes effective January 2013 Employees

hired after January 2013 will not be eligible for retiree health benefits Active participants in the plan as of December

31 2012 will remain eligible for retiree health benefits with the employee contribution structure modified for certain

employees based on retirement eligibility As result of this plan amendment Graingers postretirement benefit

obligation declined $84 million as of December 31 2012 Grainger estimates that this plan amendment could

increase 2013 pretax earnings by approximately $20 million

Grainger may terminate or modify the postretirement plan at any time subject to the provisions of the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code as amended In the event the

postretirement plan is terminated all assets of the Group Benefit Trust inure to the benefit of the participants The

foregoing assumptions are based on the presumption that the postretirement plan will continue Were the

postretirement plan to terminate different actuarial assumptions and other factors might be applicable

Grainger has used its best judgment in making assumptions and estimates and believes such assumptions and

estimates used are appropriate Changes to the assumptions may be required in future years as result of actual

experience or new trends or plan changes and therefore may affect Graingers retirement plan obligations and future

expense For additional information concerning postretirement healthcare benefits see Note to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

Insurance Reserves Grainger retains significant portion of the risk of certain losses related to workers compensation

general liability
and property losses through the utilization of high deductibles and self-insured retentions There are

also certain other risk areas for which Grainger does not maintain insurance

Grainger is responsible for establishing accounting policies on insurance reserves Although it relies on outside parties

to project future claims costs it retains control over actuarial assumptions including loss development factors and

claim payment patterns Grainger performs ongoing reviews of its insured and uninsured risks which it uses to

establish the appropriate reserve levels In calculating the liability historical trends claims experience and loss

development patterns are analyzed and appropriate loss development factors are applied to the incurred costs

associated with the claims made

The use of assumptions in the analysis leads to fluctuations in required reserves over time Any change in the

required reserve balance is reflected in the current periods results of operations Grainger believes its estimates are

reasonable based on the information currently available and the methodology used to estimate these reserves has

been consistently applied There were no material adjustments based on Graingers historical experience in 2012
2011 and 2010 If actual trends including the nature severity or frequency of claims differ from Graingers estimates

or if business or economic conditions change Graingers estimates and assumptions may be revised as appropriate

and the results of operations could be materially impacted

Income Taxes Grainger recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of

events that have been included in the financial statements or tax returns Under this method deferred tax assets

and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and

liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse The tax

balances and income tax expense recognized by Grainger are based on managements interpretations of the tax laws

of multiple jurisdictions Income tax expense reflects Graingers best estimates and assumptions regarding among
other items the level of future taxable income interpretation of tax laws and tax planning opportunities and uncertain

tax positions Future rulings by tax authorities and future changes in tax laws and their interpretation changes in

projected levels of taxable income and future tax planning strategies could impact the actual effective tax rate and

tax balances recorded by Grainger
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Contingent Liabilities At any time Grainger may be subject to investigations legal proceedings or claims related to

the ongoing operation of its business including claims both by and against Grainger Such proceedings typically

involve claims related to product liability contract disputes wage and hour laws employment practices regulatory

compliance or other actions brought by employees consumers competitors suppliers or governmental entities

Grainger routinely assesses the likelihood of any adverse outcomes related to these matters on case by case

basis as well as the potential ranges of losses and fees Grainger establishes accruals for its potential exposure as

appropriate for claims against Grainger when losses become probable and reasonably estimable Where Grainger is

able to reasonably estimate range of potential losses Grainger records the amount within that range that constitutes

Graingers best estimate Grainger also discloses the nature of and range of loss for claims against Grainger when

losses are reasonably possible and material These accruals and disclosures are determined based on the facts and

circumstances related to the individual cases and require estimates and judgments regarding the interpretation of

facts and laws as well as the effectiveness of strategies or other factors beyond Graingers control

Other Other significant accounting policies not involving the same level of measurement uncertainties as those

discussed above are nevertheless important to an understanding of the financial statements Policies such as revenue

recognition depreciation intangibles long-lived assets fair value measurements and valuations and warranties

require judgments on complex matters that are often subject to multiple external sources of authoritative guidance

such as the Financial Accounting Standards Board and the Securities and Exchange Commission Possible changes

in estimates or assumptions associated with these policies are not expected to have material effect on the financial

condition or results of operations of Grainger More information on these additional accounting policies can be found

in Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Inflation

Inflation during the last three years
has not had significant effect on operations The predominant use of the last-in

first-out LIFO method of accounting for inventories and accelerated depreciation methods for financial reporting

and income tax purposes result in substantial recognition of the effects of inflation in the financial statements

Some of Graingers products contain significant amounts of commodity-priced materials such as steel copper

petroleum derivatives or rare earth minerals and are subject to price changes based upon fluctuations in the

commodities market Grainger has been able to successfully pass on cost increases to its customers minimizing

the effect of inflation on results of operations

Grainger believes the most positive means to combat inflation and advance the interests of investors lie in the

continued application of basic business principles which include improving productivity maintaining working capital

turnover and offering products and services that can command appropriate prices in the marketplace

Forward-Looking Statements

This Form 10-K contains statements that are not historical in nature but concern future results and business plans

strategies and objectives and other matters that may be deemed to be forward-looking statements under the

federal securities laws Grainger has generally identified such forward-looking statements by using words such as

anticipate anticipated assumed assumes assumption assumptions believe believes can continue continued

continues continues to believe it has complied continuing could estimate estimated estimates expect expectation

expected expects forecast forecasts if intend intended intends maintains may might no assurance plans

predict predictable presumption project projected projecting projection projections potential potentially

reasonably likely scheduled should strategy tend tended timing and outcome are uncertain unanticipated will

will be realized and would or similar expressions

Grainger cannot guarantee that any forward-looking statement will be realized although Grainger does believe that

its assumptions underlying its forward-looking statements are reasonable Achievement of future results is subject to

risks and uncertainties that could cause Graingers results to differ materially from those which are presented

Factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those presented or implied in forward-looking

statement include without limitation higher product costs or other expenses major loss of customers loss or

disruption of source of supply increased competitive pricing pressures failure to develop or implement new

technologies or business strategies the outcome of pending and future litigation or governmental or regulatory

proceedings investigations inquiries audits and changes in laws and regulations disruption of information technology

or data security systems general industry or market conditions general global economic conditions currency

exchange rate fluctuations market volatility commodity price volatility labor shortages litigation involving appropriate

payment for wages facilities disruptions or shutdowns higher fuel costs or disruptions in transportation services

natural and other catastrophes unanticipated weather conditions and the factors identified in Item 1A Risk Factors

Caution should be taken not to place undue reliance on Graingers forward-looking statements and Grainger

undertakes no obligation to publicly update the forward-looking statements whether as result of new information

future events or otherwise
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Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Grainger may use financial instruments to reduce its exposure to adverse fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates and interest rates as part of its overall risk management strategy The derivative positions reduce risk by hedging
certain underlying economic exposures Because of the high correlation between the hedging instrument and the

underlying exposure fluctuations in the value of the instruments are generally offset by reciprocal changes in the value

of the underlying exposure Grainger does not enter into derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative

purposes See Note and Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on Graingers
derivative activities

Foreign Currency Exchange Rates

Graingers international subsidiaries generate revenue and expenses in their local currencies Graingers consolidated

earnings are subject to foreign currency translation exposure upon conversion of foreign entitys statement of

earnings from the functional currency to the reporting currency which is the U.S dollar For 2012 uniform 10%

strengthening of the U.S dollar relative to foreign currencies that affect Graingers international subsidiaries would

have resulted in $7 million decrease in net earnings Comparatively in 2011 uniform 10% strengthening of the U.S
dollar relative to foreign currencies that affect Graingers international subsidiaries would have resulted in an $8 million

decrease in net earnings uniform 10% weakening of the U.S dollar would have resulted in an $8 million increase in

net earnings for 2012 as compared with an increase in net earnings of $9 million for 2011 This sensitivity analysis of

the effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates does not factor in future potential changes in sales levels or

local currency prices or costs

Interest Rates

Grainger is subject to interest rate risk related to its variable rate debt portfolio Grainger may enter into interest rate

swap agreements to manage those risks Based on Graingers variable rate debt and derivative instruments

outstanding percentage point increase in interest rates paid by Grainger would have resulted in decrease to net

earnings of approximately $2 million for 2012 and $3 million for 2011 percentage point decrease in interest rates

would have resulted in an increase to net earnings of approximately $2 million for 2012 and $3 million for 2011 This

sensitivity analysis of the effects of changes in interest rates on long-term debt does not factor in future potential

changes in long-term debt levels

Commodity Price Risk

Grainger has limited primary exposure to commodity price risk on certain products for resale but does not purchase
commodities directly

Item Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements and supplementary data are included on pages 29 to 60 See the Index to Financial

Statements and Supplementary Data on page 28

Item Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Grainger carried out an evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of its management including the

Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of the effectiveness of the design and operation of Graingers
disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15 Based upon that evaluation the Chief

Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that Graingers disclosure controls and procedures were

effective as of the end of the period covered by this report

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Managements Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Managements report on Graingers internal control over financial reporting is included on page 29 of this Report
under the heading Managements Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm

The report from Ernst Young LLP on its audit of the effectiveness of Graingers internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2012 is included on page 30 of this Report under the heading Report of

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in Graingers internal control over financial reporting during the last fiscal quarter that

have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect Graingers internal control over financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

None
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PART III

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Graingers proxy statement relating to the annual

meeting of shareholders to be held April 24 2013 under the captions Directors Board of Directors and Board

Committees and Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance Information required by this item

regarding executive officers of Grainger is set forth below under the caption Executive Officers

Grainger has adopted code of ethics that applies to the principal executive officer principal financial officer and

principal accounting officer This code of ethics is incorporated into Graingers business conduct guidelines for

directors officers and employees Grainger intends to satisfy the disclosure requirement under Item 5.05 of Form 8-K

relating to its code of ethics by posting such information on its website at www.grainger.com/investor copy of the

code of ethics incorporated into Graingers business conduct guidelines is also available in print without charge to any

person upon request to Graingers Corporate Secretary Grainger has also adopted Operating Principles for the Board

of Directors which are available on its website and are available in print to any person who requests them

Executive Officers

Following is information about the Executive Officers of Grainger including age as of March 2013 Executive Officers

of Grainger generally serve until the next annual election of officers or until earlier resignation or removal

Positions and Offices Held and Principal

Name and Age Occupation and Employment During the Past Five Years

Laura Brown 49 Senior Vice President Communications and Investor Relations position assumed in 2010

after serving as Vice President Global Business Communications position assumed in 2009

and Vice President Investor Relations position assumed in 2008 Previously Ms Brown

served as Vice President Marketing position assumed in 2005 After joining Grainger in

2000 she served in various management positions including Vice President Finance and Vice

President Internet Business Analysis and Supplier Management

Court Carruthers 40 Senior Vice President and President Grainger U.S position assumed in 2012 after serving

as President Grainger International position assumed in 2009 and Senior Vice President

of Grainger position assumed in 2007 Previously Mr Carruthers served as President of

AcklandsGrainger Inc position assumed in 2006 Prior to assuming the last-mentioned

position he served as Vice President National Accounts and Sales of AcklandsGrainger

Inc position assumed in 2002 when he joined that company

Timothy Ferrarell 55 Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer position assumed in June 2007

Prior to this role Mr Ferrarell served as Senior Vice President Enterprise Systems since

June 2001 and took on responsibility for Enterprise Processes in 2006 He has served in

increasingly responsible roles since joining Grainger in 1990 including Vice President

Quality and Business Planning Vice President Marketing Communications Vice President

Product Line Development and Director Product Management

Joseph High 58 Mr High joined Grainger as Senior Vice President Chief People Officer in June 2011

Prior to joining Grainger Mr High was the Senior Vice President of Human Resources at

Owens Corning in Toledo Ohio position assumed in 2004

John Howard 55 Senior Vice President and General Counsel position assumed in 2000

Gregory Irving 54 Vice President and Controller position assumed in 2008 Previously Mr Irving served

as Vice President Finance for AcklandsGrainger Inc since 2004 After joining Grainger

in 1999 he served in various management positions including Vice President Financial

Services and Director Internal Audit

Ronald Jadin 52 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer position assumed in 2008 Previously

Mr Jadin served as Vice President and Controller position assumed in 2006 after serving

as Vice President Finance Upon joining Grainger in 1998 he served as Director Financial

Planning and Analysis

Donald Macpherson 45 Senior Vice President and President Global Supply Chain and Corporate Strategy

position assumed in 2012 after serving as Senior Vice President Global Supply Chain

position assumed in 2008 Mr Macpherson joined Grainger in 2008 as Senior Vice

President Supply Chain Before joining Grainger he was Partner and Director of the

Boston Consulting Group global management consulting firm and advisor on

business strategy
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Michael Pulick 48 Senior Vice President and President Grainger International position assumed in 2012

after serving as Senior Vice President and President Grainger U.S position assumed

in 2008 Previously Mr Pulick served as Senior Vice President of Customer Service

position assumed in 2006 After joining Grainger in 1999 Mr Pulick has held number of

increasingly responsible positions in Graingers supplier and product management areas

including Vice President Product Management and Vice President Merchandising

James Ryan 54 Chairman of the Board President and Chief Executive Officer of Grainger positions

assumed in 2009 2006 and 2008 respectively Mr Ryan became Chief Operating Officer

and was appointed to Graingers Board of Directors in 2007 Prior to that Mr Ryan served

as Group President position assumed in 2004 He has served Grainger in increasingly

responsible roles since 1980 including Executive Vice President Marketing Sales and

Service Vice President Information Services President Grainger.com and President

Grainger Parts

Item 11 Executive Compensation
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Graingers proxy statement relating to the annual

meeting of shareholders to be held April 24 2013 under the captions Board of Directors and Board Committees
Director Compensation Report of the Compensation Committee of the Board and Compensation Discussion

and Analysis

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Graingers proxy statement relating to the annual

meeting of shareholders to be held April 24 2013 under the captions Ownership of Grainger Stock and Equity

Compensation Plans

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Graingers proxy statement relating to the annual meeting

of shareholders to be held April 24 2013 under the captions Election of Directors and Transactions with Related Persons

Item 14 Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to Graingers proxy statement relating to the annual

meeting of shareholders to be held April 24 2013 under the caption Audit Fees and Audit Committee Pre-Approval

Policies and Procedures

PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Financial Statements See Index to Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Financial Statement Schedules The schedules listed in Reg 210.5-04 have been omitted because they are either

not applicable or the required information is shown in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto

Exhibits

Restated Articles of Incorporation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3i to Graingers Quarterly

Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30 1998

Bylaws as amended February 17 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3b to Graingers

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2009

Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders Including Indentures

No instruments which define the rights of holders of Graingers Industrial Development Revenue Bonds

are filed herewith pursuant to the exemption contained in Regulation S-K Item 601 b4iii Grainger

hereby agrees to furnish to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request copy of any

such instrument

10 Material Contracts

Credit Agreement with Wachovia Bank National Association as administrative agent and

other lenders incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to Graingers Quarterly Report on

Form 10-0 for the quarter ended March 31 2008

Compensatory Plans or Arrangements

Director Stock Plan as amended incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10c to Graingers

Quarterly Report on Form 10-0 for the quarter ended June 30 2006

ii 1990 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan as amended incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10a
to Graingers Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2006
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iii 2001 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan as amended incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10b to

Graingers Quarterly Report on Form 0-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2006

iv Form of Indemnification Agreement between Grainger and each of its directors and certain of its

executive officers incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10bi to Graingers Quarterly Report on

Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31 2009

Frozen Executive Death Benefit Plan as amended incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10bv
to Graingers Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2007

First amendment to the Frozen Executive Death Benefit Plan incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10bv1 to Graingers Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31 2008

Second amendment to the Frozen Executive Death Benefit Plan incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10biv2 to Graingers Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year

ended December 31 2009

vi Supplemental Profit Sharing Plan as amended incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10viii to

Graingers Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2003

vii Supplemental Profit Sharing Plan II as amended incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10bix
to Graingers Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2007

viii Voluntary Salary and Incentive Deferral Plan as amended incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10bxito Graingers Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2007

ix Summary Description of the 2013 Directors Compensation Program

2005 Incentive Plan as amended incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10d to Graingers

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2006

xi 2010 Incentive Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit of Graingers Proxy Statement dated

March 12 2010

xii Form of Stock Option Award Agreement between Grainger and certain of its executive officers

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10xiv to Graingers Annual Report on Form 10-K for the

year ended December 31 2005

xiii Form of Stock Option Award and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement between Grainger and certain

of its executive officers incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10xv to Graingers Annual Report

on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2005

xiv Form of Stock Option Award Agreement between Grainger and certain of its executive officers

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10bxvi to Graingers Annual Report on Form 10-K for the

year ended December 31 2009

xv Form of Stock Option and Restricted Stock Unit Agreement between Grainger and certain of its

executive officers incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10bxvii to Graingers Annual Report

on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2009

xvi Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement between Grainger and certain of its executive officers

incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10bxviii to Graingers Annual Report on Form 10-K for the

year ended December 31 2010

xvii Form of 2010 Performance Share Award Agreement between Grainger and certain of its

executive officers incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10bxviii to Graingers Annual Report

on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31 2011

xviii Form of 2011 Performance Share Award Agreement between Grainger and certain of its

executive officers incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10bxix to Graingers Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2011

xix Form of 2012 Performance Share Award Agreement between Grainger and certain of its

executive officers

xx Letter of Agreement Long-Term International Assignment to Mr Court Carruthers dated

December 22 2011 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10b xxi to Graingers Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2011

xxi Summary Description of the 2013 Management Incentive Program
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xxii Incentive Program Recoupment Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10bxxv to

Graingers Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2009

xxiii Form of Change in Control Employment Agreement between Grainger and certain of its

executive officers incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10bxxvii to Graingers Annual Report
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MANAGEMENTS ANNUAL REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of W.W Grainger Inc Grainger is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal

control over financial reporting Graingers internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to

Graingers management and Board of Directors regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of

financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States of America

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

under all potential conditions Therefore effective internal control over financial reporting provides only reasonable

and not absolute assurance with respect to the preparation and presentation of financial statements

Graingers management assessed the effectiveness of Graingers internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2012 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee

of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO criteria Based on its assessment under that

framework and the criteria established therein Graingers management concluded that Graingers internal control over

financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2012

Ernst Young LLP an independent registered public accounting firm has audited Graingers internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2012 as stated in their report which is included herein

K-29



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders

W.W Grainger Inc

We have audited W.W Grainger Inc and subsidiaries the Company internal control over financial reporting as of

December 31 2012 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee

of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO criteria W.W Grainger Inc.s management is

responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness

of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Managements Annual Report on Internal

Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Companys internal control over

financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether

effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit included obtaining

an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing

and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and performing

such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides

reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding

the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies

and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect

the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company provide reasonable assurance that transactions

are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with

authorizations of management and directors of the Company and provide reasonable assurance regarding

prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the Companys assets that could have

material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures

may deteriorate

In our opinion W.W Grainger Inc and subsidiaries maintained in all material respects effective internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2012 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States the consolidated balance sheets of W.W Grainger Inc and subsidiaries as of December 31 2012 and 2011

and the related consolidated statements of earnings comprehensive earnings shareholders equity and cash flows

for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2012 of W.W Grainger Inc and subsidiaries and our

report dated February 27 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Ernst Young LLP

Chicago Illinois

February 27 2013
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Shareholders

W.W Grainger Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of W.W Grainger Inc and subsidiaries as of

December 31 2012 and 2011 and the related consolidated statements of earnings comprehensive earnings

shareholders equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2012 These

financial statements are the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion

on these financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about

whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the

accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial

statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the consolidated

financial position of W.W Grainger Inc and subsidiaries at December31 2012 and 2011 and the consolidated

results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2012
in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States W.W Grainger Inc and subsidiaries internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2012 based

on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations

of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 27 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Ernst Young LLP

Chicago Illinois

February 27 2013
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W.W Grainger Inc and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

In thousands of dollars except for share and per share amounts

For the Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Net sales $8950045 $8078185 $7182158

Cost of merchandise sold 5033885 4567393 4176474

Gross profit 3916160 3510792 3005684

Warehousing marketing and administrative expenses 2785035 2458363 2145209

Operating earnings 1131125 1052429 860475

Other income and expense

Interest income 2660 2068 1215

Interest expense 16078 9091 8187

Equity in net income loss of unconsolidated entities 314 182
Gain on sale of investment in unconsolidated entity 7639

Other non-operating income 1866 709 1608

Other non-operating expense 1784 2541 1151

Total other income and expense 13336 902 6697

Earnings before income taxes 1117789 1051527 853778

Incometaxes 418940 385115 340196

Net earnings 698849 666412 513582

Less Net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interest 8968 7989 2717

Net earnings attributable to W.W Grainger Inc 689881 658423 510865

Earnings per share

Basic 9.71 9.26 7.05

Diluted 9.52 9.07 6.93

Weighted average number of shares outstanding

Basic 69811881 69690854 70836945

Diluted 71181733 71176158 72138858

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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W.W Grainger Inc and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS

In thousands of dollars

For the Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Net earnings $698849 $666412 $513582

Other comprehensive earnings losses

Foreign currency translation adjustments

net of tax expense benefit of $1 653 $1325

and $3397 respectively 7344 36117 46450

Reclassification of cumulative currency translation gain 525

Defined postretirement benefit plan net of tax expense
benefit of $47948 $18725 and $1821 respectively 75625 30038 2874

Other employment-related benefit plans and derivatives

net of tax benefit of $2825 $89 and $2321 respectively 9519 1932 4287
Total other comprehensive earnings losses 73450 67562 39289

Comprehensive earnings net of tax 772299 598850 552871

Less Comprehensive earnings attributable to

noncontrolling interest

Netearnings 8968 7989 2717

Foreign currency translation adjustments 8866 4127 8712

Comprehensive earnings attributable to W.W Grainger Inc $772197 $586734 $541442

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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W.W Grainger Inc and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

In thousands of dollars except for share and per share amounts

As of December 31

ASSETS 2012 2011

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
452063 335491

Accounts recevabIe less allowances for doubtful accounts of

$19449 and $18801 respectively 940020 888697

Inventories net 1301935 1268647

Prepaid expenses and other assets 110414 100081

Deferred income taxes 55967 47410

Prepaid income taxes 40241 54574

Total current assets 2900640 2694900

PROPERTY BUILDINGS AND EQUIPMENT

Land 265224 252161

Buildings structures and improvements 1224044 1186002

Furniture fixtures machinery and equipment 1271166 1127159

2760434 2565322

Less Accumulated depreciation and amortization 1615861 1505027

Property buildings and equipment net 1144573 1060295

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES 51536 100830

GOODWILL 543670 509183

OTHER ASSETS AND INTANGIBLES NET 374179 350854

TOTAL ASSETS $5014598 $4716062
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W.W Grainger Inc and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS CONTINUED

In thousands of dollars except for per share amounts

As of December 31

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 2012 2011

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Short-term debt 79071 119970

Current maturities of long-term debt 18525 221539

Trade accounts payable 428782 477648

Accrued compensation and benefits 165450 207010

Accrued contributions to employees profit sharing plans 170434 159950

Accrued expenses 204800 178652

Income taxes payable 12941 23156

Total current liabilities 1080003 1387925

LONG-TERM DEBT less current maturities 467048 175055

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES AND TAX UNCERTAINTIES 119280 100218

EMPLOYMENT-RELATED AND OTHER NONCURRENT LIABILITIES 230901 328585

SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Cumulative Preferred Stock

$5 par value 12000000 shares authorized

none issued or outstanding

Common Stock $0.50 par value

300000000 shares authorized issued 109659219 shares 54830 54830

Additional contributed capital 812573 700826

Retained earnings 5278577 4806110

Accumulated other comprehensive earnings losses 53578 28738
Treasury stock at cost 40180724 and 39696367 shares respectively 3175646 2904243

Total W.W Grainger Inc shareholders equity 3023912 2628785

Noncontrolling interest 93454 95494

Total shareholders equity 3117366 2724279

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY $5014598 $4716062

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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W.W Grainger Inc and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

In thousands of dollars

For the Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net earnings $698849 666412 513582

Provision for losses on accounts receivable 9504 4761 6718

Deferred income taxes and tax uncertainties 12343 1666 5553
Depreciation and amortization 159049 149200 149678

Stock-based compensation 55500 54020 49796

Gain on investment in unconsolidated entities 7639
Change in operating assets and liabilities

net of business acquisitions

Accounts receivable 45953 85083 127790

Inventories 14872 219680 80545
Prepaid expenses and other assets 8346 24228 8806
Trade accounts payable 54314 86395 36219

Other current liabilities 58673 50718 49576

Current income taxes payable 9349 16827 1503
Accrued employment-related benefits costs 45795 45680 18128

Other net 9970 7059 3055

Net cash provided by operating activities 816195 746108 596445

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to property buildings and equipment 249860 196942 127124
Proceeds from sale of property buildings and equipment 8530 7278 6508

Cash paid for business acquisitions net of cash

acquired 64808 359296 62072
Othernet 482 13892 13529

Net cash used in investing activities $305656 $535068 $169159
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W.W Grainger Inc and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS CONTINUED

In thousands of dollars

For the Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Borrowings under lines of credit 161160 218885 35297
Payments against lines of credit 205006 194325 29799
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 300000 172464 200000

Payments of long-term debt and commercial paper 219950 179296 239122
Proceeds from stock options exercised 72084 84337 86528
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 57885 52098 25650
Purchase of treasury stock 340532 151082 504803
Cash dividends paid 220077 180527 152338

Net cash used in financing activities 394436 177446 578587

Exchange rate effect on cash and cash equivalents 469 11557 4884

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 116572 22037 146417

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 335491 313454 459871

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 452063 335491 313454

Supplemental cash flow information

Cash payments for interest net of amounts capitalized 16028 8996 8188
Cash payments for income taxes 383698 312616 319754

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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W.W Grainger Inc and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

In thousands of dollars except for per share amounts

W.W Grainger Inc Shareholders Equity

Accumulated

Additional Other

Common Contributed Retained Comprehensive Treasury Noncontrolling

Stock Capital Earnings Earnings Losses Stock Interest

Balance at January 2010 $54830 $596358 $3966508 12.374 $2466350 $63479

Exercise of stock options 11211 98052 171

Tax benefits on stock-based

compensation awards 28225

Stock option expense 17163 333

Amortization of other stock-based

compensation awards 29725

Settlement and vesting ot other

stock-based compensation awards 22090 9297

Purchase of treasury stock 484 498011 428

Net earnings 510865 2717

Other comprehensive earnings -- 30577 --- 8712

Cash dividends paid

$2.08 per share 150612 1726

Fair value at acquisition
9196

Balance at December 31 2010 $54830 $637686 $4326761 42951 $2857012 $82454

Exercise of stock options 11506 95384 459

Tax benefits on stock-based

compensation awards 55824

Stock option expense 16838
294

Amortization of other stock-based

compensation awards 33162

Settlement and vesting ot other

stock-based compensation awards .. 31067 8257

Purchase of treasury stock 111 150872 99

Net earnings 658423 7989

Other comprehensive earnings 71689 -- 4127

Cash dividends paid

$2.52 per share 179074 1453

Fair value at acquisition
1723

Balance at December 31 2011 $54830 $700826 $4806110 28738 sf2904243 $95494

Exercise of stock options 927 72502 564

Tax benefits on stock-based

compensation awards 60122

Stock opt ion expense 17898 105

Amortization of other stock-based

compensation awards 35125

Settlement and vesting of other

stock-based compensation awards 31175 1452

Directors stock compensation 30867

Purchase of treasury stock 163 345357 148

Net earnings 689881 8968

Other comprehensive earnings 82316 8866

Cash dividends paid

$3.06 per share 217414 2663

Balance at December 31 2012 $54830 $812573 $5278577 53578 $3175646 $93454

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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W.W Grainger Inc and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

NOTE SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

INDUSTRY INFORMATION
W.W Grainger Inc is broad-line distributor of maintenance repair and operating supplies and other related

products and services used by businesses and institutions In this report the words Company or Grainger mean
W.W Grainger Inc and its subsidiaries

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries All significant

intercompany transactions are eliminated from the consolidated financial statements

EQUITY METHOD OF ACCOUNTING FOR INVESTMENTS

For investments in which the Company owns or controls from 20% to 50% of the voting shares the equity method of

accounting is used Changes in interest arising from the issuance of stock by an investee are accounted for as

additional contributed capital

In October 2011 the Company divested its 49% stake in joint venture MRO Korea Co Ltd for $12 million resulting in

pretax gain of $8 million $5 million after-tax net of the cumulative foreign currency losses reclassified from Accumulated

other comprehensive earnings The Company previously accounted for this investment under the equity method

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United

States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of

assets and liabilities revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent liabilities Actual results could differ

from those estimates

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

The financial statements of the Companys foreign subsidiaries are measured using the local currency as the functional

currency Net exchange gains or losses resulting from the translation of financial statements of foreign operations and

related long-term debt and derivative instruments are recorded as separate component of other comprehensive

earnings See Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RECLASSIFICATIONS

Certain amounts in the 2011 and 2010 financial statements as previously reported have been reclassified to

conform to the 2012 presentation Derivative instruments have been reclassified from the Deferred income taxes tax

uncertainties and derivative instruments line item to Employment-related and other noncurrent liabilities line item on

the Consolidated Balance Sheet This reclassification had no impact on the Consolidated Statement of Earnings or

the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenues recognized include product sales billings for freight and handling charges and fees earned for services

provided The Company recognizes product sales and billings for freight and handling charges primarily on the date

products are shipped to or picked up by the customer The Companys standard shipping terms are FOB shipping point

On occasion the Company will negotiate FOB destination terms These sales are recognized upon delivery to the

customer eCommerce revenues which accounted for 30% of total 2012 revenues are recognized on the same terms as

revenues through other channels Fee revenues which account for less than 1% of total 2012 revenues are recognized

after services are completed Taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities are presented on

net basis and are not included in revenue

COST OF MERCHANDISE SOLD
Cost of merchandise sold includes product and product-related costs vendor consideration freight-out and handling

costs The Company defines handling costs as those costs incurred to fulfill shipped sales order

VENDOR CONSIDERATION

The Company receives rebates and allowances from its vendors to promote their products The Company utilizes

numerous advertising programs to promote its vendors products including catalogs and other printed media Internet

radio and other marketing programs Most of these programs relate to multiple vendors which makes supporting the

specific identifiable and incremental criteria difficult and would require numerous assumptions and judgments Based

on the inexact nature of trying to track reimbursements to the advertising expenditure for each vendor the Company
treats most vendor advertising allowances as reduction to Cost of merchandise sold rather than reduction of

operating advertising expenses Rebates earned from vendors that are based on product purchases are capitalized

into inventory as part of product purchase price These rebates are credited to Cost of merchandise sold based on

sales Vendor rebates that are earned based on products sold are credited directly to Cost of merchandise sold

K-39



ADVERTISING

Advertising costs are expensed in the year the related advertisement is first presented Advertising expense was

$173 million $145 million and $123 million for 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively Most vendor-provided allowances are

classified as an offset to Cost of merchandise sold For additional information see VENDOR CONSIDERATION above

Catalog expense is amortized equally over the life of the catalog beginning in the month of its distribution Advertising

costs for catalogs that have not been distributed by year-end are capitalized as Prepaid expenses Amounts included in

Prepaid expenses at December31 2012 and 2011 were $46 million and $50 million respectively

WAREHOUSING MARKETING AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Included in this category are purchasing branch operations information services and marketing and selling

expenses as well as other types of general and administrative costs

STOCK INCENTIVE PLANS

The Company measures all share-based payments using fair-value-based methods and records compensation

expense related to these payments over the vesting period See Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are recognized during the year in which transactions enter into the determination of financial statement

income with deferred taxes being provided for temporary differences between financial and tax reporting The

Company recognizes in the financial statements provision for tax uncertainties resulting from application of complex

tax regulations in multiple tax jurisdictions See Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS LOSSES
The Companys Other comprehensive earnings losses include foreign currency translation adjustments changes in

fair value of derivatives designated as hedges and unrecognized gains losses on postretirement and other

employment-related benefit plans See Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Company considers investments in highly liquid debt instruments purchased with an original maturity of 90 days

or less to be cash equivalents

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

The Company places temporary cash investments with institutions of high credit quality and by policy limits the

amount of credit exposure to any one institution

The Company has broad customer base representing many diverse industries doing business in all regions of the

United States Canada Europe Asia and Latin America Consequently no significant concentration of credit risk is

considered to exist

ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

The Company establishes reserves for customer accounts that are potentially uncollectible The method used to

estimate the allowances is based on several factors including the age of the receivables and the historical ratio of

actual write-offs to the age of the receivables These analyses also take into consideration economic conditions that

may have an impact on specific industry group of customers or specific customer

INVENTORIES

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market Cost is determined primarily by the last-in first-out LIFO

method which accounts for approximately 62% of total inventory For the remaining inventory cost is determined by

the first-in first-out FIFO method

PROPERTY BUILDINGS AND EQUIPMENT

Property buildings and equipment are valued at cost For financial statement purposes depreciation and amortization

are provided in amounts sufficient to relate the cost of depreciable assets to operations over their estimated service

lives principally on the declining-balance and sum-of-the-years-digits depreciation methods The principal estimated

useful lives for determining depreciation are as follows

Buildings structures and improvements 10 to 30 years

Furniture fixtures machinery and equipment to 10 years

Improvements to leased property are amortized over the initial terms of the respective leases or the estimated service

lives of the improvements whichever is shorter

The Company capitalized interest costs of $1 million in each of years 2012 2011 and 2010

LONG-LIVED ASSETS

The carrying value of long-lived assets is evaluated whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the

carrying value of the asset may be impaired An impairment loss is recognized when estimated undiscounted future

cash flows resulting from use of the asset including disposition are less than the carrying value of the asset

Impairment is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the fair value
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The Company recognized impairment charges of $2 million $8 million and $4 million in 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively included in Warehousing marketing and administrative expenses to reduce the carrying value of certain

long-lived assets to their estimated fair value pursuant to impairment indicators for property currently held for sale

lease terminations idle assets and branch closures

CAPITALIZED SOFTWARE
The Company capitalizes certain costs related to the purchase of internal-use software Amortization of capitalized software

is on straight-line basis over three and five years Amortization begins when the software is available for its intended use

Amortization expense was $16 million $19 million and $24 million for the years ended December31 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively Capitalized software was $72 million and $44 million at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively These costs

are included in Other assets and intangibles net on the Consolidated Balance Sheets

GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES

Goodwill is recognized as the excess cost of an acquired entity over the net amount assigned to assets acquired and liabilities

assumed Goodwill is not amortized but rather tested for impairment on an annual basis and more often if circumstances

require Impairment losses are recognized whenever the implied fair value of goodwill is less than its carrying value

The Company recognizes an acquired intangible apart from goodwill whenever the intangible arises from contractual or

other legal rights or whenever it can be separated or divided from the acquired entity and sold transferred licensed rented

or exchanged either individually or in combination with related contract asset or
liability

Such intangibles are amortized

over their estimated useful lives unless the estimated useful life is determined to be indefinite Amortizable intangible assets

are being amortized over useful lives of one to 22 years The straight-line method of amortization is used as it has been

determined to approximate customer attrition patterns and the use pattern of the assets Impairment losses are recognized

if the carrying amount of an intangible subject to amortization is not recoverable from expected future cash flows and its

carrying amount exceeds its fair value

The Company also maintains intangible assets with indefinite lives which are not amortized These intangibles are tested for

impairment on an annual basis and more often if circumstances require Impairment losses are recognized whenever the

implied fair value of these assets is less than their carrying value See Note and Note to the Consolidated Financial

Statements

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents receivables and accounts payable approximate fair value due to

the short-term nature of these financial instruments The carrying value of long-term debt also approximates fair value

due to the variable interest rates The fair value of the Companys qualifying derivative instruments is recorded in the

Consolidated Balance Sheets and is discussed in more detail in Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING
The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage exposures to fluctuations in interest rates and foreign

currency exchange rates The Company does not enter into derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative

purposes All derivative instruments are recognized as either assets or liabilities in the balance sheet at their fair value

Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognized in net earnings or other comprehensive earnings losses

depending on whether the derivative is designated as part of qualifying hedging relationship The ineffective portion

of qualifying hedging derivative and derivatives not designated as hedge are recognized immediately in earnings

Instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are marked to market with the change recognized in current

period earnings See Note and Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information on the

Companys derivative activities

INSURANCE RESERVES

The Company purchases insurance for catastrophic exposures and those risks required to be insured by law It also

retains ignificant portion of the risk of certain losses related to workers compensation general liability and property

losses through the utilization of high deductibles and self-insured retentions Reserves for these potential losses are

based on an external analysis of the Companys historical claims results and other actuarial assumptions

WARRANTY RESERVES

The Company generally warrants the products it sells against defects for one year For significant portion of warranty

claims the manufacturer of the product is responsible for expenses For warranty expenses not covered by the

manufacturer the Company provides reserve for future costs based primarily on historical experience Amounts

included in warranty reserves at December 31 2012 and 2011 were $4 million and $3 million respectively

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
In July 2012 the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued updated guidance on the periodic testing of indefinite

lived assets for impairment This guidance allows companies to assess qualitative factors to determine if it is more

likely than not that an indefinite-lived intangible asset might be impaired If it is determined that it is more likely than

not that the fair value of such an asset exceeds its carrying value no further testing is necessary This guidance is

applicable for fiscal years beginning after September 15 2012 with early adoption permitted The Company early

adopted this pronouncement and its adoption did not have material effect on the consolidated financial statements
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NOTE 2- BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS

On December31 2012 the Company acquired Techni-Tool Inc With 2011 sales of $88 million Techni-Tool is

specialist distributor serving manufacturing customers The Company paid $40 million for the Techni-Tool Inc

acquisition less cash acquired Goodwill and intangibles recorded totaled approximately $23 million The purchase

price allocation has not been finalized and is subject to change as the Company obtains additional information

during the measurement period related to the valuation of acquired assets and liabilities

On April 2012 the Company acquired AnFreixo S.A With 2011 sales of $37 million AnFreixo former subsidiary

of the Votorantim Group is broad-line distributor of MRO supplies in Brazil The Company paid $25 million for the

AnFreixo acquisition less cash acquired Goodwill and intangibles recorded totaled approximately $21 million

The purchase price allocation has not been finalized and is subject to change as the Company obtains additional

information during the measurement period related to the valuation of acquired assets and liabilities including

deferred taxes

During 2011 the Company acquired Fabory for $358 million less cash acquired Goodwill recorded totaled

$140 million Purchased identified intangible assets totaled $131 million Acquired intangibles primarily consist of

customer relationships and trade names Customer relationships will be amortized on straight-line basis over

22 years The indefinite-lived intangible is related to the Fabory trade name and trademarks

During 2010 the Company acquired four companies and obtained majority ownership in one joint venture for

$62 million less cash acquired

The results of these acquisitions are included in the Companys consolidated results from the respective dates of

acquisition Due to the immaterial nature of these transactions both individually and in the aggregate disclosures of

amounts assigned to the acquired assets and assumed liabilities and pro forma results of operations were not

considered necessary

NOTE 3- GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill is recognized as the excess cost of an acquired entity over the amount assigned to assets acquired and

liabilities assumed Goodwill is not amortized but rather tested for impairment on an annual basis and more often if

circumstances require Impairment losses are recognized whenever the implied fair value of goodwill is less than its

carrying value

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment are as follows in thousands of dollars

Other

United States Canada Businesses Total

BalanceatJanuaryl2011 $151220 $153922 $82090 $387232

Acquisitions 171 135080 135251

Purchase price adjustments 11 11

Translation
_______

3448 9863 13311

Balance at December3l2011 151231 150645 207307 509183

Acquisitions 23385 12466 35851

Purchase price adjustments 4523 4523

Impairment 4177 4177
Translation 4130 5840 1710

Balance at December 31 2012 $170439 $154775 $218456 $543670

The Company tests goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives for impairment annually in the fourth quarter

and when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of these assets might exceed their current

fair values The Company tests goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level The Company first uses qualitative

factors such as current company performance and overall economic factors to determine if it is more likely than

not that the goodwill might be impaired and whether it is necessary to perform the two-step quantitative goodwill

impairment test In the two-step test the Company compares the carrying value of the reporting unit to its fair value

If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value the second step is performed where the

implied fair value of goodwill is compared to its carrying value to determine the amount of impairment

As part of the annual evaluation of goodwill the Company determined two reporting units required the two-step

quantitative test Based on lower than expected operating performance the estimated fair value of Grainger Lighting

Services formerly known as Alliance Energy Solutions decreased The Company recorded non-cash impairment

charge of $4 million included in Warehousing marketing and administrative expenses reducing the carrying value

of goodwill to $13 million for this reporting unit The estimated fair value of the other reporting unit with goodwill of

$125 million exceeded its carrying value and no indication of impairment existed as of the test date
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The fair value estimates used in goodwill impairment analysis required significant judgment and were based on

assumptions believed to be reasonable including business plans estimates of future revenues and operating

margins and assumptions about the overall economic climate and the competitive environment There can be no

assurance that the Companys estimates and assumptions will prove to be accurate predictions of the future Changes

in managements assumptions and estimates can have significant impact on the fair value of forecasted cash flows

Due to the inherent uncertainties associated with these unobservable Level inputs the results of goodwill impairment

tests may differ and impairment charges could occur in future periods

Intangible assets included in Other assets and intangibles net in the Consolidated Balance Sheets were comprised

of the following in thousands of dollars

As of December 31

2012 2011

Gross Net Gross Net

carrying Accumulated carrying carrying Accumulated carrying

amount amortization amount amount amortization amount

Amortized customer lists and

relationships $279068 $124137 $154931 $270460 $114422 $156038

Amortized trademarks

tradenamesandother 34907 21885 13022 35280 19914 15366

Non-amortized trade names 74782 74782 76025
___________

76025

Total intangible assets $388757 $146022 $242735 $381765 $134336 $247429

The estimated useful lives for acquired intangibles are as follows

Customer lists and relationships to 22 years

Amortized trademarks trade names and other to 17 years

Amortization expense recognized on intangible assets was $13 million for 2012 $12 million for 2011 and $12 million

for 2010 and is included in Warehousing marketing and administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statement

of Earnings

Estimated amortization expense for future periods is as follows in thousands of dollars

Year Expense

2013 12372

2014 12162

2015 11913

2016 11762

2017 11215

Thereafter 108529

NOTE ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

The following table shows the activity in the allowance for doubtful accounts in thousands of dollars

For the Years

Ended December 31

2012 2011

Balance at beginning of period $18801 $24552

Provision for uncollectible accounts 9504 4761

Write-off of uncollectible accounts net of recoveries 9100 8138
Business acquisitions foreign currency and other 244 2374

Balance at end of period $19449 $18801

NOTE 5-INVENTORIES

Inventories primarily consist of merchandise purchased for resale Inventories would have been $376 million and

$354 million higher than reported at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively if the FIFO method of inventory

accounting had been used for all Company inventories Net earnings would have increased by $13 million

$11 million and $2 million for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively using the FIFO

method of accounting Inventory values using the FIFO method of accounting approximate replacement cost
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The Company provides reserves for excess and obsolete inventory The reserve balance was $133 million and

$125 million as of December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively The increase was due to the AnFreixo acquisition

and higher reserve requirements in China and India

NOTE 6- SHORT-TERM DEBT

The following summarizes information concerning short-term debt in thousands of dollars

As of December 31

2012 2011

Lines of credit 79071 69004
Commercial paper 50000
Other short-term borrowings 966

79071 $119970

Lines of Credit

The Company had $138 million and $135 million of uncommitted lines of credit denominated in foreign currencies at

December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively Foreign subsidiaries utilize the lines of credit to meet business growth and

operating needs The maximum month-end balance outstanding during the year was $79 million and $69 million for 2012

and 2011 respectively The weighted average interest rates were 5.16% and 5.59% during 2012 and 2011 respectively

As of December31 2012 and 2011 the weighted average interest rates were 5.07% and 5.37% respectively

The Company had committed line of credit of $400 million in 2012 and 2011 for which the Company paid

commitment fee of 0.10% in 2012 and 2011 This line of credit supports the issuance of commercial paper The

current line is due to expire in July 2014 There were no borrowings under this committed line of credit

Commercial Paper

During 2011 the Company repaid $150 million of its previously issued $200 million commercial paper and accordingly

the Company reclassified the remaining $50 million from long-term debt to short-term debt as of December 31 2011 In

April 2012 the remaining $50 million commercial paper balance was repaid The weighted average interest rates paid

during 2012 and 2011 were 0.17% and 0.20% and the weighted average interest rate as of December 31 2011 was 0.14%

Letters of Credit

The Company had $21 million and $26 million of letters of credit at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

primarily related to the Companys insurance program Letters of credit were also issued to facilitate the purchase of

products Issued amounts were $4 million at both December 31 2012 and 2011

NOTE 7- LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt consisted of the following in thousands of dollars

As of December 31

2012 2011

Bank term loan $300000 $219932

Euro-denominated bank term loan 158328 155340
Other 27245 21322
Less current maturities 18525 221539

$467048 $175055

Bank Term Loan

In May 2012 the Company entered into $300 million unsecured bank term loan which matures in November 2016

The proceeds were used to refinance existing debt and for general corporate purposes The Company may prepay the

loan in whole or in part at its option

At the election of the Company the term loan shall bear interest at the Base Rate plus the Applicable Margin or the LIBOR

Rate plus the Applicable Margin as defined within the term loan agreement At December 31 2012 the Company had

elected one month LIBOR Interest Period The weighted average interest rate during the year was 1.23%

Euro-Denominated Bank Term Loan

In August 2011 the Company entered into 120 million unsecured bank term loan in connection with the acquisition

of Fabory maturing in August 2016 The Company at its option may prepay this term loan in whole or in part

Payments of 2.5 million are due semi-annually beginning February 28 2013 with the remaining balance due at

maturity The weighted average interest rate paid during the year was 1.80% The weighted average interest rate

includes inputs from variable rates and an interest rate swap See Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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The scheduled aggregate principal payments related to long-term debt are due as follows in thousands of dollars

Year Payment Amount2013 18525

2014 27411

2015 34725

2016 388030
2017 1934

Thereafter 14948

The Companys debt instruments include only standard affirmative and negative covenants for debt instruments of similar

amounts and structure The Companys debt instruments do not contain financial or performance covenants restrictive to

the business of the Company reflecting its strong financial position The Company is in compliance with all debt

covenants for the year ended December 31 2012

NOTE DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of significant derivative instruments included in Employment-related and other noncurrent liabilities was

as follows in thousands of dollars

As of December 31

Derivatives Designated as Hedges 2012 2011

Interest rate swap $4120 $1574

Foreign currency forwards $7916 $4781

The fair values of these instruments are determined by using quoted market forward rates Level inputs and reflect

the present value of the amount that the Company would pay for contracts involving the same notional amounts and

maturity dates

During the fourth quarter of 2011 the Company entered into pay-fixed/receive floating interest rate swap with

notional value of 60 million maturing in August 2016 to partially hedge the future interest expense of the euro-

denominated term loan entered into to fund portion of the Fabory acquisition The swap is accounted for as cash

flow hedge The effective portion of the changes in fair value of the derivative is reported as component of other

comprehensive earnings losses and reclassified to net income when the hedged transaction affects earnings

During the fourth quarter of 2010 the Company entered into multiple foreign currency forward contracts with total

notional value of C$160 million maturing in September 2014 These forward contracts are designated and qualify as

hedge of an intercompany net investment in the Companys Canadian subsidiary The Company uses the forward

method of assessing hedge effectiveness for derivatives designated as hedging instruments of net investment in

foreign subsidiary and all changes in fair value of the derivatives are reported as component of other comprehensive

earnings losses net of tax effects as long as specific hedge accounting criteria are met

Other foreign currency forward contracts entered into during the current and prior periods to hedge non-functional

currency-denominated intercompany note receivables and forecasted U.S dollar-denominated obligations by foreign

subsidiaries of the Company were not material

See Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements for description of the Companys Accounting Policy regarding

derivative instruments and Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information

NOTE EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

The Company provides various retirement benefits to eligible employees including contributions to defined contribution

plans pension benefits associated with defined benefit plans postretirement medical benefits and other benefits

Eligibility requirements and benefit levels vary depending on employee location Various foreign benefit plans cover

employees in accordance with local legal requirements

Defined Contribution Plans

majority of the Companys U.S employees are covered by noncontributory profit sharing plan This plan provides

for annual employer contributions based upon formula related primarily to earnings before federal income taxes

limited to percentage of the total eligible compensation paid to eligible employees The annual contribution is limited

to minimum of 8% and maximum of 18% of total eligible compensation paid to eligible employees The profit sharing

plan expense was $165 million $156 million and $143 million for 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

The Company sponsors additional defined contribution plans available to certain U.S and foreign employees for which

contributions are paid by the Company and participating employees The expense associated with these defined contribution

plans totaled $12 million $9 million and $8 million for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively
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Defined Benefit Plans and Other Retirement Plans

The Company sponsors defined benefit plan which provides pension benefits for certain employees in the Netherlands

The annual pension benefit is based on 1.75 percent of career average pay and years
of service The plan is insured and

accordingly all risks with respect to investments mortality and longevity are covered by an insurance company The assets

of the plan are invested in separate account with the insurer December 31 measurement date is utilized to value plan

assets and obligations Funding of the plan takes place through single premiums for obligations regarding future service

years As of December 312012 and 2011 the pension plan was in an overfunded position with net pension asset of

$6 million and $13 million respectively In 2012 the expense related to this plan was not significant to the Company

In certain countries pension contributions are made to government-sponsored social security pension plans in

accordance with local legal requirements For these plans the Company has no continuing obligations other than the

payment of contributions The cost of these programs is not significant to the Company

Executive Death Benefit Plan

The Executive Death Benefit Plan provides one of three potential benefits supplemental income benefit SIB an

executive death benefit EDB or postretirement payment The SIB provides income continuation at 50% of total

compensation payable for ten years to the beneficiary of participant if that participant dies while employed by the

Company The EDB provides an after-tax lump sum payment of one-time final total compensation to the beneficiary

of participant who dies after retirement In addition pre-2008 participants may elect to receive reduced

postretirement payment instead of the EDB Effective January 2010 the plan is not available to new participants

The net periodic benefits costs charged to operating expenses were $1 million in each of years 2012 2011 and 2010

The net loss recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive earnings AOCEwas $0.2 million and $0.7 million as of

December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively The net gain recognized in AOCE was $0.4 million as of December 31

2010 The plan benefits are paid as they come due from the general assets of the Company The plan benefit

obligation was $17 million as of December 31 2012 and 2011

Postretirement Benefits

The Company has postretirement healthcare benefits plan that provides coverage for majority of its United States

employees hired prior to January 2013 and their dependents should they elect to maintain such coverage upon

retirement Covered employees become eligible for participation when they qualify for retirement while working for the

Company Participation in the plan is voluntary and requires participants to make contributions toward the cost of the

plan as determined by the Company

During the fourth quarter 2012 the Company implemented plan design changes effective January 12013 Employees

hired after January 2013 will not be eligible for retiree health benefits Active participants in the plan as of December

31 2012 will remain eligible for retiree health benefits with the employee contribution structure modified for certain

employees based on retirement eligibility As result of this plan amendment the Companys postretirement benefit

obligation declined $84 million as of December 31 2012

During the fourth quarter 2012 the Company also implemented an Employer Group Waiver Plan EGWP and secondary

supplemental wrap-around plan for its Medicare eligible retiree medical plan participants and will no longer apply for the

Part Retiree Drug Subsidy RDS effective January 2013 The EGWP program does not alter the benefits expected to

be provided to the plan participants and is expected to increase the level of Medicare subsidies that will offset plan costs

Accordingly the event is recognized as an actuarial gain for the year ended December 31 2012 As result of this

change the Companys postretirement benefit obligation declined $19 million as of December 31 2012

The Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 provides federal subsidy to retiree

healthcare benefit plan sponsors that provide prescription drug benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to that

provided by Medicare As result of the subsidy the Companys accumulated postretirement benefit obligation APBO
reflected reduction of $68 million as of December 31 2011 As result of the implementation of the EGWP program

the benefit obligation is no longer reduced by Part RDS as of December 312012 The subsidy reduced net periodic

benefits costs by approximately $9 million $7 million and $6 million for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and

2010 respectively

The net periodic benefits costs charged to operating expenses which were valued with measurement date of January

for each year consisted of the following components in thousands of dollars

For the Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Service cost $20058 $15762 $14293

Interest cost 12810 13352 12852

Expected return on assets 6210 5790 4434
Amortization of prior service credit 495 495 495
Amortization of transition asset 143 143 143
Amortization of unrecognized losses 4827 3269 3649

Net periodic benefits costs $30847 $25955 $25722
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The Company has elected to amortize the amount of net unrecognized losses over period equal to the average

remaining service period for active plan participants expected to retire and receive benefits of approximately

15.9 years for 2012

Reconciliations of the beginning and ending balances of the APBO which is calculated using December 31

measurement date the fair value of plan assets and the funded status of the benefit obligation follow in thousands

of dollars

2012 2011

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $328912 $257978
Service cost 20058 15762
lnterestcost 12810 13352
Plan participants contributions 2150 2103
Plan amendments 84004
Actuarial gains losses 28234 44883
Benefits paid 6047 5551
Medicare Part Subsidy received 442 385

Benefit obligation at end of year 246087 328912

Plan assets available for benefits at beginning of year 103519 96507
Actual returns losses on plan assets 13355 720
Employers contributions 4962 11180
Plan participants contributions 2150 2103
Benefits paid 6047 5551

Plan assets available for benefits at end of year 117939 103519

Noncurrent postretirement benefit obligation $128148 $225393

The amounts recognized in AOCE consisted of the following components in thousands of dollars

As of December 31

2012 2011

Prior service credit cost 81968 1542
Transition asset 286 428

Unrecognized losses 78407 118612
Deferred tax liability asset 1618 46330

Net gains losses 2229 73396

The components of AOCE related to the postretirement benefit costs that will be amortized into net periodic

postretirement benefit costs in 2013 are estimated as follows in thousands of dollars

2013

Amortization of prior service credit 7723
Amortization of transition asset 143
Amortization of unrecognized losses 4931

Estimated amount to be amortized from AOCE into net periodic postretirement benefit costs 2935

The benefit obligation was determined by applying the terms of the plan and actuarial models These models include

various actuarial assumptions including discount rates assumed rates of return on plan assets healthcare cost trend

rates cost-sharing between the Company and the retirees The Company evaluates its actuarial assumptions on an

annual basis and considers changes in these long-term factors based upon market conditions and historical experience

The following assumptions were used to determine net periodic benefit costs at January

For the Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Discount rate 4.50% 5.60% 6.00%

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets net of tax 6.00% 6.00% 6.00%

Initial healthcare cost trend rate 8.50% 9.00% 9.50%

Ultimate healthcare cost trend rate 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

Year ultimate healthcare cost trend rate reached 2019 2019 2019
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The following assumptions were used to determine benefit obligations at December 31

2012 2011 2010

Discount rate 4.00% 4.50% 5.60%

Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets net of tax 6.00% 6.00% 6.00%

Initial healthcare cost trend rate 8.00% 8.50% 9.00%

Ultimate healthcare cost trend rate 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

Year ultimate healthcare cost trend rate reached 2019 2019 2019

The discount rate assumptions reflect the rates available on high-quality fixed income debt instruments as of

December 31 the measurement date of each year These rates have been selected due to their similarity to the

duration of the projected cash flows of the postretirement healthcare benefit plan As of December 31 2012 the

Company reduced the discount rate from 4.5% to 4.0% to reflect the decrease in the market interest rates which

contributed to the increase in the unrealized actuarial loss at December 31 2012

The Company reviews external data and its own historical trends for healthcare costs to determine the healthcare cost

trend rates Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have significant effect on the amounts reported for the healthcare

plans percentage point change in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the following effects on 2012

results in thousands of dollars

Percentage Point

Increase Decrease

Effect on total service and interest cost 8909 6670
Effect on APBO 35541 28647

The Company has established Group Benefit Trust Trust to fund the plan obligations and process benefit payments

In December 2010 the Company began to transition the target allocation of the Trust assets from 100% U.S equities

to 50% U.S equities and 50% non-U.S equities This investment strategy reflects the long-term nature of the plan

obligation and seeks to take advantage of the earnings potential of equity securities in the global markets The assets

of the Trust are invested in funds designed to track to either the Standard Poors 500 Index SP 500 or the Total

International Composite Index The Total International Composite Index tracks non-U.S stocks within developed and

emerging market economies The plans assets are stated at fair value which represents the net asset value of shares

held by the plan in the registered investment companies at the quoted market prices Level input as of December

31 in thousands of dollars

2012 2011

Registered investment companies

Fidelity Spartan U.S Equity Index Fund 51169 44138

Vanguard 500 Index Fund 51336 44265

Vanguard Total International Stock 21739 18379

Total Assets $124244 $106782

The Company uses the long-term historical return on the plan assets and the historical performance of the SP 500

and beginning in 2010 the Total International Composite Index to develop its expected return on plan assets The

required use of an expected long-term rate of return on plan assets may result in recognition of income that is greater

or less than the actual return on plan assets in any given year Over time however the expected long-term returns are

designed to approximate the actual long-term returns and therefore result in pattern of income recognition that

more closely matches the pattern of the services provided by the employees

The Companys investment policies include periodic reviews by management and trustees at least annually

concerning the allocation of assets among various asset classes e.g domestic stocks international stocks

short-term bonds long-term bonds etc the investment performance of the assets including performance

comparisons with appropriate benchmarks investment guidelines and other matters of investment policy and

the hiring dismissal or retention of investment managers

The funding of the trust is an estimated amount that is intended to allow the maximum deductible contribution under

the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 IRC as amended and was $7 million and $17 million for the years ended

December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively There was no additional funding of the trust for the year ended December

31 2012 There are no minimum funding requirements and the Company intends to follow its practice of funding the

maximum deductible contribution under the IRC
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The Company forecasts the following benefit payments which include projection for expected future employee

service for the next ten years in thousands of dollars

Estimated Gross

Year Benefit Payments2013 49592014 5714

2015 6553

2016 7530

2017 8660

20182022 61393

NOTE 10 LEASES

The Company leases certain land buildings and equipment under noncancellable operating leases that expire

at various dates through 2036 Capital leases as of December 31 2012 are not considered material Many of the

building leases obligate the Company to pay real estate taxes insurance and certain maintenance costs and contain

multiple renewal provisions exercisable at the Companys option Leases that contain predetermined fixed escalations

of the minimum rentals are recognized in rental expense on straight-line basis over the lease term Cash or rent

abatements received upon entering into certain operating leases are also recognized on straight-line basis over

the lease term

At December 31 2012 the approximate future minimum lease payments for all operating leases were as follows

in thousands of dollars

Future Minimum

Year Lease Payments

2013 54456

2014 47913

2015 39641

2016 30088

2017 20433

Thereafter 39156

Total minimum payments required 231687

Less amounts representing sublease income 1803

$229884

Rent expense including items under lease and items rented on month-to-month basis was $68 million $72 million and

$53 million for 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively These amounts are net of sublease income of $1 million $2 million and

$1 million for 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

NOTE 11 STOCK INCENTIVE PLANS

The Company maintains stock incentive plans under which the Company may grant variety of incentive awards

to employees and directors In 2010 the Companys shareholders approved the 2010 Incentive Plan Plan which

replaced all prior active plans Prior Plans Awards previously granted under Prior Plans will remain outstanding in

accordance with their terms total of 5.9 million shares of common stock have been reserved for issuance under the

Plan As of December 31 2012 there were 2.5 million shares available for grant under the Plan Non-qualified stock

options performance shares restricted stock units and deferred stock units have been granted and are outstanding

under these plans

Pretax stock-based compensation expense was $53 million $51 million and $47 million in 2012 2011 and 2010

respectively Related income tax benefits recognized in earnings were $18 million in each of the years 2012 and

2011 and $17 million in 2010

Options

In 2012 2011 and 2010 the Company issued stock option grants to employees as part of their incentive compensation

In 2010 the Company also provided broad-based stock option grants covering 256000 shares to those employees who

reached major service milestones and were not participants in other stock option programs

Option awards are granted with an exercise price equal to the closing market price of the Companys stock on the last

trading day preceding the date of grant The options generally vest over three years although accelerated vesting is
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provided in certain circumstances Awards generally expire ten years from the grant date Transactions involving stock

Shares

Subject to

Option

5474596

945450

1444898
93900

4881248

520327

1323883
117017

3960675

404111

972015
34055

3358716

Weighted

Average

Price Per

Share

68.07

$106.70

64.39

84.02

77.61

$149.15

63.08

89.18

91.53

$203.96

74.14

$105.36

$109.95

At December 31 2012 there was $14 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested option

awards which the Company expects to recognize over weighted average period of .8 years

The following table summarizes information about stock options exercised in thousands of dollars

For the Years Ended December 31

2011 2010

20933 22665

124441 75204

13549 17974

83504 87024

Fair value of options exercised

Total intrinsic value of options exercised

Fair value of options vested

Settlements of options exercised

Information about stock options outstanding and exercisable as of December 31 2012 is as follows

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Average Weighted Average

Remaining Intrinsic Remaining Intrinsic

Contractual Value Contractual Value

Number Life

______
000s Number Life

_______
000s

714047 2.92 years 97688 714047 2.92 years 97688

875035 5.70 years 104251 875035 5.70 years 104251

848250 7.25 years 81282 36550 6.97 years 3552

921384 8.75years 27187 3836 8.53years 159

3358716 6.34 years $310408 1629468 4.52 years $205650

The Company uses binomial lattice option pricing model for the valuation of stock options The weighted average fair

value of options granted in 2012 2011 and 2010 was $43.98 $33.95 and $24.53 respectively The fair value of each

option granted in 2012 2011 and 2010 used the following assumptions

Risk-free interest rate

Expected life

Expected volatility

Expected dividend yield

The risk-free interest rate is selected based on yields from U.S Treasury zero-coupon issues with remaining term

approximately equal to the expected term of the options being valued The expected life selected for options granted

For the Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

1.1% 2.6% 2.9%

years years years

25.9% 24.6% 24.7%

1.6% 1.8% 2.0%

options are summarized as follows

Outstanding at January 12010

Granted

Exercised

Canceled or expired

Outstanding at December 31 2010

Granted

Exercised

Canceled or expired

Outstanding at December 31 2011

Granted

Exercised

Canceled or expired

Outstanding at December 31 2012

Options

Exercisable

3141996

2486478

1808667

1629468

2012

18120

126138

15551

72066

Range of

Exercise

Prices

$45.50 78.86

$81.49 85.82

$91.61 $108.15

$110.54 $204.24

Exercise

Price

65.56

83.23

$106.53

$172.86

$109.95

Exercise

Price

65.56

83.23

$105.20

$160.89

76.16
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during each year presented represents the period of time that the options are expected to be outstanding based

on historical data of option holder exercise and termination behavior Expected volatility is based upon implied and

historical volatility of the Companys closing stock price over period equal to the expected life of each option grant

Historical company information is also the primary basis for selection of expected dividend yield assumptions

Performance Shares

The Company awards performance-based shares to certain executives Receipt of Company stock is contingent

upon the Company meeting sales growth and return on invested capital ROIC performance goals Each participant

is granted base number of shares At the end of the performance period the number of shares granted will be

increased decreased or remain the same based upon actual Company-wide sales versus target sales The shares

as determined at the end of the performance period are issued at the end of the third year if the Companys average

target ROIC is achieved during the vesting period

Performance share value is based upon closing market prices on the last trading day preceding the date of award

and is charged to earnings on ratable basis over the three-year period based on the number of shares expected to

vest Holders of performance share awards are not entitled to receive cash payments equivalent to cash dividends

If the performance shares vest they will be settled by the Companys issuance of common stock in exchange for the

performance shares on one-for-one basis The following table summarizes the transactions involving performance-

based share awards

2012 2011 2010

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Price Per Price Per Price Per

Shares Share Shares Share Shares Share

Beginning nonvested shares

outstanding 192740 $109.16 177120 84.74 72362 $80.01

Issued 28639 $177.75 96236 $127.43 140400 $87.29

Cancelled 1666 $114.41 13056 87.24 1069 $86.00

Vested 101734 90.47 67560 72.86 34573 $86.00

Ending nonvested shares

outstanding 117979 $141.86 192740 $109.16 177120 $84.74

At December 31 2012 there was $7 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to performance-

based share awards that the Company expects to recognize over weighted average period of 1.5 years

Restricted Stock Units RSU5
RSUs granted vest over periods from three to seven years from issuance although accelerated vesting is provided

in certain instances Holders of RSUs are entitled to receive cash payments equivalent to cash dividends and other

distributions paid with respect to common stock RSUs are settled by the issuance of the Companys common stock

on one-for-one basis Compensation expense related to RSUs is based upon the closing market price on the last

trading day preceding the date of award and is charged to earnings on straight-line basis over the vesting period

The following table summarizes RSUs activity

2012 2011 2010

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Price Per Price Per Price Per

Shares Share Shares Share Shares Share

Beginning nonvested units... 1119488 $100.76 1205787 88.65 1241364 80.96

Issued 152995 $204.26 242212 $152.55 274740 $109.63

Cancelled 37972 $123.01 92202 89.57 61745 82.59

Vested 255623 88.36 236309 86.13 248572 77.37

Ending nonvested units 978888 $118.60 1119488 $100.76 1205787 88.65

Fair value of shares vested

in millions $23 $20 $19

At December 31 2012 there was $54 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to nonvested RSUs that

the Company expects to recognize over weighted average period of years

K-Si



Director Stock Awards

The Companys Board of Directors receive both cash and deferred stock units DSU5 for its services deferred stock

unit is the economic equivalent of share of common stock The directors were each awarded $115000 of deferred

stock units in 2012 and 2011 and $100000 in 2010 The number of units granted was based on the 200-day average

stock price as of January 31 of the grant year Compensation expense related to the DSUs is based upon the closing

market price on the last trading day DSUs vest immediately at grant and are entitled to receive dividends and other

distributions with respect to common stock which are deferred as stock units based on the market value of the stock

at relevant times Directors can also elect to defer their cash fees in the form of deferred stock units Settlement of

DSUs is required to be deferred until after termination of service as director Effective April 2012 the Board approved

change in the settlement procedure to eliminate the cash settlement option and the directors agreed to settle their

outstanding DSUs in shares As of December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 there were eleven nonemployee directors

and one former nonemployee director who held DSUs The accumulated value of DSUs of $31 million is recorded in

Additional paid in capital at December 31 2012 The outstanding DSUs were recorded as liability of $27 million and

$18 million in Employment-related and other noncurrent liabilities at December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively The

following table summarizes DSUs activity dollars in thousands

2012 2011 2010

Units Dollars Units Dollars Units Dollars

Beginning balance 142797 26730 130377 18006 113509 10991

Dividends 2273 454 2244 350 2416 261

Deferred fees 9170 1871 12601 1878 14452 1563

Retirement distribution 2465 461 2425 335
Unit appreciation 2358 6831

________
5191

Ending balance 151775 30952 142797 26730 130377 18006

NOTE 12- CAPITAL STOCK

The Company had no shares of preferred stock outstanding as of December 31 2012 and 2011 The activity related to

outstanding common stock and common stock held in treasury was as follows

2012 2011

Outstanding Outstanding

Common Treasury Common Treasury

Stock Stock Stock Stock

Balance at beginning of period 69962852 39696367 69377802 40281417

Exercise of stock options net of 5310 and shares

swapped in stock-for-stock exchange respectively 966705 966705 1323883 1323883

Settlement of restricted stock units net of 121353 and

141467 shares retained respectively 225997 225997 257931 257931

Settlement of performance share units net of 23590 and

11731 shares retained respectively 44051 44051 22842 22842
Purchaseoftreasuryshares 1721110 1721110 1019606 1019606

Balance at end of period 69478495 40180724 69962852 39696367

NOTE 13- ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS

The following table sets forth the components of Accumulated other comprehensive earnings losses in thousands

of dollars
As of December 31

2012 2011

Foreign currency translation adjustments 85231 76234

Derivative instruments 11965 6286
Postretirement benefit plan 3847 119726

Other employment-related benefit plans 9835 3170
Deferred tax liability asset 11184 35592

Total accumulated other comprehensive earnings losses 56094 17356
Less Foreign currency translation adjustments attributable to noncontrolling interest 2516 11382

Total accumulated other comprehensive earnings losses attributable to

W.W Grainger Inc 53578 28738
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30991

26706

139931

67148

31008

295784

54434

$241350

37876
114955

16653
20509
19291

209284

32066

55967

51536

75437

32066

26845

30411

170514

58813

23870

310453

53739

$256714

22498
112569

10194
20038
16893

184192

72522

47410

100830

75718

72522

The change in comprehensive earnings losses on Postretirement benefit plan was primarily due to changes made to the

plan partially offset by decrease in the discount rate See Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 14INCOME TAXES

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that

have been included in the financial statements or tax returns Under this method deferred tax assets and liabilities are

determined based on the differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities using

enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse

Income tax expense consisted of the following in thousands of dollars

For the Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Current provision

Federal $324848 $275489 $283481
State 40508 49098 48241

Foreign 53564 45405 21235

Total current 418920 369992 352957

Deferred tax provision benefit 20 15123 12761

Total provision $418940 $385115 $340196

Net earnings before income taxes by geographical area consisted of the following in thousands of dollars

For the Years Ended December 31

2011 2010

917820 $802135

133707 51643

$1051527 $853778

were in thousands of dollars

As of December 31

2012 2011

2012

United States 982220

Foreign 135569

$1117789

The income tax effects of temporary differences that gave rise to the net deferred tax asset

Deferred tax assets

Inventory

Accrued expenses

Accrued employment-related benefits

Foreign operating loss carryforwards

Other

Deferred tax assets

Less valuation allowance

Deferred tax assets net of valuation allowance

Deferred tax liabilities

Property buildings and equipment

Intangibles

Software

Prepaids

Other

Deferred tax liabilities

Net deferred tax asset

The net deferred tax asset is classified as follows

Current assets

Noncurrent assets

Noncurrent liabilities foreign

Net deferred tax asset
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At December 31 2012 the Company had $253 million of operating loss carryforwards related primarily to foreign

operations Some of the operating loss carryforwards may expire at various dates through 2022 The valuation

allowance represents provision for uncertainty as to the realization of the tax benefits of these carryforwards In

addition the Company recorded valuation allowance to reflect the estimated amount of deferred tax assets that

may not be realized

The changes in the valuation allowance were as follows in thousands of dollars

For the Years Ended

December 31

2012 2011

Beginning balance 53739 20087

Increase related to foreign net operating loss carryforwards
695 33652

Ending balance 54434 53739

The increase in the valuation allowance for foreign net operating loss carryforwards at December 31 2011 relates

primarily to the acquisition of Fabory See Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

reconciliation of income tax expense with federal income taxes at the statutory rate follows in thousands of dollars

For the Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Federal income tax at the 35% statutory rate $391226 $368034 $298822

State income taxes net of federal income tax benefit 26099 32226 30457

Othernet 1615 15145 10917

Income tax expense $418940 $385115 $340196

Effective tax rate 37.5% 36.6% 39.8%

In 2011 other net included the tax benefit related to settlement of various tax reviews during 2011 and the benefit of

tax law changes in Japan enacted in the fourth quarter of 2011 In 2010 other net included an expense related to the

U.S healthcare legislation

Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries at December 31 2012 amounted to $326 million No provision for

deferred U.S income taxes has been made for these subsidiaries because the Company intends to permanently

reinvest such earnings in its foreign operations

The changes in the liability
for tax uncertainties excluding interest are as follows in thousands of dollars

2012 2011

Balance at beginning of year
$22760 $34060

Additions to tax positions related to the current year
11369 8067

Additions for tax positions of prior years 8977 2175

Reductions for tax positions of prior years 1447 8087
Reductions due to statute lapse 737 696

Settlements audit payments refunds net 15 12759

Balance at end of year
$40937 $22760

The Company classifies the liability for tax uncertainties in Deferred income taxes and tax uncertainties Included in

this amount are $6 million and $3 million at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively of tax positions for which the

ultimate deductibility is highly certain but for which there is uncertainty about the timing of such deductibility Any

changes in the timing of deductibility of these items would not affect the annual effective tax rate but would accelerate

the payment of cash to the taxing authorities to an earlier period The increase in the additions to tax positions of prior

years in 2012 related primarily to acquisitions

The Company regularly undergoes examination of its federal income tax returns by the Internal Revenue Service

IRS During 2011 the Company concluded the review of its 2007 and 2008 federal income tax returns with the

IRS The Companys federal tax returns for 2009 and 2010 are currently under audit by the IRS and the tax years

2011 and 2012 are open The Company is also subject to audit by state local and foreign taxing authorities Tax

years 2002- 2012 remain subject to state and local audits and 2005- 2012 remain subject to foreign audits The

estimated amount of liability
associated with the Companys uncertain tax positions may change within the next

twelve months due to the pending audit activity expiring statutes or tax payments
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The Company recognizes interest expense in the provision for income taxes During 2012 and 2010 the Company

recognized an expense of $1 million for each year During 2011 the Company recognized net benefit of $1 million

primarily due to settlement of audits and statute lapse As of December 31 2012 and 2011 the Company accrued

approximately $2 million and $1 million respectively for interest

NOTE 15- EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Companys unvested Restricted Stock Units and Directors Deferred Stock Units that contain nonforfeitable rights

to dividends meet the criteria of participating security Under the two-class method earnings are allocated between

common stock and participating securities The presentation of basic and diluted earnings per share is required only

for each class of common stock and not for participating securities As such the Company presents basic and diluted

earnings per share for its one class of common stock

The two-class method includes an earnings allocation formula that determines earnings per share for each class of

common stock according to dividends declared and undistributed earnings for the period The Companys reported

net earnings is reduced by the amount allocated to participating securities to arrive at the earnings allocated to

common stock shareholders for purposes of calculating earnings per share

The dilutive effect of participating securities is calculated using the more dilutive of the treasury stock or the two-class

method The Company has determined the two-class method to be the more dilutive As such the earnings allocated

to common stock shareholders in the basic earnings per share calculation is adjusted for the reallocation of

undistributed earnings to participating securities to arrive at the earnings allocated to common stock shareholders

for calculating the diluted earnings per share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share under the two-class method

in thousands of dollars except for share and per share amounts

For the Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Net earnings attributable to W.W Grainger Inc as reported $689881 $658423 $510865
Distributed earnings available to participating securities 3641 3216 3086
Undistributed earnings available to participating securities 8704 9635 8355

Numerator for basic earnings per share Undistributed and

distributed earnings available to common shareholders 677536 645572 499424
Undistributed earnings allocated to participating securities 8704 9635 8355
Undistributed earnings reallocated to participating securities 8540 9438 8208

Numerator for diluted earnings per share Undistributed and

distributed earnings available to common shareholders $677700 $645769 $499571

Denominator for basic earnings per share

weighted average shares 69811881 69690854 70836945
Effect of dilutive securities 1369852 1485304 1301913

Denominator for diluted earnings per share

weighted average shares adjusted for dilutive securities 71181733 71176158 72138858

Earnings per share two-class method

Basic 9.71 9.26 7.05

Diluted 9.52 9.07 6.93

NOTE 16- SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company has two reportable segments the United States and Canada The United States operating

segment reflects the results of the Companys U.S business The Canada operating segment reflects the results

for Acklands Grainger Inc the Companys Canadian business Other businesses include the Companys
operations in Europe Asia Latin America and other U.S operations These businesses individually do not meet the

criteria of reportable segment Operating segments generate revenue almost exclusively through the distribution of

maintenance repair and operating supplies as service revenues account for less than 1% of total revenues for each

operating segment

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting

policies Intersegment transfer prices are established at external selling prices less costs not incurred due to related

party sale The segment results include certain centrally incurred costs for shared services that are charged to the

segments based upon the relative level of service used by each operating segment
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Following is summary of segment results in thousands of dollars

2012

Other

United States Canada Businesses Total

Total net sales $6925842 $1105782 $1006762 $9038386

Intersegment net sales 87249 363 729 88341

Net sales to external customers 6838593 1105419 1006033 8950045

Segment operating earnings 1132722 127412 20289 1280423

Segment assets 1884102 387915 347905 2619922

Depreciation and amortization 99229 14058 19202 132489

Additionstolong-livedassets 182985 46330 21611 250926

2011

Other

United States Canada Businesses Total

Total net sales $6501343 $992823 $647666 $8141832

Intersegment net sales 62766 163 718 63647

Net sales to external customers 6438577 992660 646948 8078185

Segment operating earnings 1066324 107582 30984 1204890

Segment assets 1845703 335900 331892 2513499

Depreciation and amortization 100017 12840 11035 123892

Additions to long-lived assets 148803 29744 13402 191949

2010

Other

United States Canada Businesses Total

Total net sales $6020069 $820941 $389621 $7230631

Intersegment net sales 47913 137 423 48473

Net sales to external customers 5972156 820804 389198 7182158

Segment operating earnings 920222 46836 11661 978719

Segment assets 1629208 313133 151348 2093689

Depreciation and amortization 105478 12407 7809 125694

Additions to long-lived assets 100194 20745 5660 126599

Following are reconciliations of the segment information with the consolidated totals per the financial statements in

thousands of dollars

2012 2011 2010

Operating earnings

Total operating earnings for reportable segments $1280423 $1204890 978719

Unallocated expenses 149298 152461 118244

Total consolidated operating earnings $1131125 $1052429 860475

Assets

Assets for reportable segments $2619922 $2513499 $2093689

Other current and noncurrent assets 1967480 1749029 1323082

Unallocated assets 427196 453534 487606

Total consolidated assets $5014598 $4716062 $3904377
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2012

Segment Consolidated

Totals Unallocated Total

Other significant items

Depreciation and amortization 132489 13123 145612
Additions to long-lived assets 250926 6998 257924

Long-Lived

Revenues Assets

Geographic information

United States $6786361 944400
Canada 1120470 136644
Other foreign countries 1043214 135438

$8950045 $1216482

2011

Segment Consolidated

Totals Unallocated Total

Other significant items

Depreciation and amortization 123892 13319 137211

Additionstolong-livedassets 191949 5665 197614

Long-Lived

Revenues Assets

Geographic information

United States $6388506 872947
Canada 998014 102085
Other foreign countries 691665 129014

$8078185 $1104046

2010

Segment Consolidated

Totals Unallocated Total

Other significant items

Depreciation and amortization 125694 12099 137793
Additions to long-lived assets 126599 4941 131540

Long-Lived

Revenues Assets

Geographic information

United States $5922668 845008
Canada 823220 87325
Other foreign countries 436270 64900

$7182158 997233

Revenues are attributed to countries based on the ship-to location of the customer

Unallocated expenses and unallocated assets primarily relate to the Company headquarters support services which

are not part of any business segment as well as intercompany eliminations Unallocated expenses include payroll and

benefits depreciation and other costs associated with headquarters-related support services Unallocated assets include

non-operating cash and cash equivalents certain prepaid expenses and property buildings and equipment net
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Assets for reportable segments include net accounts receivable and first-in first-out inventory which are reported to

the Companys Chief Operating Decision Maker Long-lived assets consist of property buildings equipment and

capitalized software

Depreciation and amortization presented above includes depreciation of long-lived assets and amortization of

capitalized software

NOTE 17 SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA UNAUDITED

summary of selected quarterly information for 2012 and 2011 is as follows in thousands of dollars except for per

share amounts

2012 Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 Total

Net sales $2193445 $2249275 $2281205 $2226120 $8950045

Cost of merchandise sold 1219113 1270932 1287245 1256595 5033885

Gross profit 974332 978343 993960 969525 3916160

Warehousing marketing and

administrative expenses 669971 664343 739634 711087 2785035

Operating earnings 304361 314000 254326 258438 1131125

Net earnings attributable to

W.W Grainger Inc 187516 190704 155394 156267 689881

Earnings per
sharebasic 2.63 2.68 2.19 2.21 9.71

Earnings per share diluted 2.57 2.63 2.15 2.17 9.52

2011 Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 Total

Net sales $1883612 $2003022 $2114647 $2076904 $8078185

Cost of merchandise sold 1053998 1140628 1201648 1171119 4567393

Gross profit
829614 862394 912999 905785 3510792

Warehousing marketing and

administrative expenses 567000 597112 609959 684292 2458363

Operating earnings 262614 265282 303040 221493 1052429

Net earnings attributable to

W.W Grainger Inc 157933 169885 182121 148484 658423

Earnings per share basic 2.23 2.39 2.56 2.08 9.26

Earnings per share diluted 2.18 2.34 2.51 2.04 9.07

1The third quarter of 2012 included $0.66 per share expense related to the settlement of disputes involving the

GSA and USFS contracts

NOTE 18 CONTINGENCIES AND LEGAL MATTERS

The Company has been named along with numerous other nonaffiliated companies as defendant in litigation in

various states involving asbestos and/or silica These lawsuits typically assert claims of personal injury arising from

alleged exposure to asbestos and/or silica as consequence of products purportedly distributed by the Company

In 2012 the Company was named in lawsuits relating to asbestos involving approximately 130 new plaintiffs and

lawsuits relating to asbestos and/or silica involving approximately 46 plaintiffs were dismissed with respect to the

Company typically based on the lack of product identification

As of January 25 2013 the Company is named in cases filed on behalf of approximately 1925 plaintiffs in which there

is an allegation of exposure to asbestos and/or silica The Company has denied or intends to deny the allegations

in all of the above-described lawsuits If specific product distributed by the Company is identified in any of these

lawsuits the Company would attempt to exercise indemnification remedies against the product manufacturer In

addition the Company believes that substantial number of these claims are covered by insurance The Company

has entered into agreements with its major insurance carriers relating to the scope coverage and costs of defense

of lawsuits involving claims of exposure to asbestos While the Company is unable to predict the outcome of these

lawsuits it believes that the ultimate resolution will not have either individually or in the aggregate material adverse

effect on the Companys consolidated financial position or results of operations
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On December 26 2012 the Company announced that it entered into definitive settlement agreement the

Agreement with the United States of America acting through the Civil Division of the United States Department of

Justice DOJ The Agreement relates to previously disclosed discussions with the DOJ regarding the Companys
compliance with its disclosure obligations and the pricing provisions of the Companys contracts with the General

Services Administration and the United States Postal Service Pursuant to the Agreement the Company paid the

United States $70 million plus interest from September 20 2012 In consideration of this payment the United States

released the Company with respect to claims alleged by the DOJ The Agreement does not contain any admission of

wrongdoing by the Company As previously disclosed the Company recorded $76 million liability for this matter for

the quarter ended September 30 2012 This amount included an estimate for liabilities associated with alleged claims

for tax freight and billing errors that were not covered by the Agreement

From time to time the Company is involved in various other legal and administrative proceedings that are incidental

to its business including claims relating to product liability premises liability general negligence environmental

issues employment intellectual property and other matters As government contractor selling to federal state

and local governmental entities the Company is also subject to governmental or regulatory inquiries or audits or

other proceedings including those related to pricing compliance It is not expected that the ultimate resolution of

any of these matters will have either individually or in the aggregate material adverse effect on the Companys
consolidated financial position or results of operations
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Grainger has duly issued this

report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

DATE February 27 2013

W.W GRAINGER INC

James Ryan
By

James Ryan

Chairman President and

Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the

following persons on behalf of Grainger on February 27 2013 in the capacities indicated

James Ryan Stuart Levenick ____

James Ryan
Stuart Levenick

Chairman President and Director

Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer and Director
John McCarter Jr

John McCarter Jr

Ronald Jadin
_____________________ Director

Ronald Jadin

Senior Vice President
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Neil Novich

Principal Financial Officer Neil Novich

Director

Gregory Irving

Gregory Irving
Michael Roberts

Vice President and Controller Michael Roberts

Principal Accounting Officer Director

rian Anderson Gary Rogers
Brian Anderson

Gary Rogers
Director Director
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Wilbur Gantz Scott Santi

Director Director

Ann Hailey James Slavik

Ann Hailey James Slavik
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William Hall

Director
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM EXHIBIT 23

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement Form S-8 No 33-43902 333-24215

333-61980 333-105185 333-124356 333-166345 and Form S-4 No 33-32091 for W.W Grainger Inc and in the

related prospectuses of our reports dated February 27 2013 with respect to the consolidated financial statements of

W.W Grainger Inc and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of W.W Grainger Inc included in

this Annual Report Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2012

ERNST YOUNG LLP

Chicago Illinois

February 27 2013
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CERTIFICATION EXHIBIT 31a

Ryan certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of W.W Grainger Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state

material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements

were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly

present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of

and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls

and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e and internal control over financial

reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to

be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its

consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period

in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability

of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this

report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of

the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that occurred

during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an

annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants

internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal

control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of

directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process

summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have significant

role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date February 27 2013

By Ryan

Name Ryan

Title Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer
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CERTIFICATION EXHIBIT 31b

ft Jadin certify that

have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of W.W Grainger Inc

Based on my knowledge this report does not contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state

material fact necessary to make the statements made in light of the circumstances under which such statements

were made not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

Based on my knowledge the financial statements and other financial information included in this report fairly

present in all material respects the financial condition results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of

and for the periods presented in this report

The registrants other certifying officer and are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls

and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e and internal control over financial

reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f for the registrant and have

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to

be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information relating to the registrant including its

consolidated subsidiaries is made known to us by others within those entities particularly during the period

in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under our supervision to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability

of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrants disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this

report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of

the period covered by this report based on such evaluation and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrants internal control over financial reporting that occurred

during the registrants most recent fiscal quarter the registrants fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an

annual report that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the registrants

internal control over financial reporting and

The registrants other certifying officer and have disclosed based on our most recent evaluation of internal

control over financial reporting to the registrants auditors and the audit committee of the registrants board of

directors or persons performing the equivalent functions

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrants ability to record process

summarize and report financial information and

Any fraud whether or not material that involves management or other employees who have significant

role in the registrants internal control over financial reporting

Date February 27 2013

By Jadin

Name Jadin

Title Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO EXHIBIT 32

18 U.S.C SECTION 1350

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of W.W Grainger Inc Grainger for the annual period ended

December 31 2012 the Report Ryan as Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer of Grainger and

Jadin as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Grainger each hereby certifies pursuant to 18

U.S.C Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13a or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of

1934 and

The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results

of operations of Grainger

Ryan

Ryan

Chairman President and

Chief Executive Officer

February 27 2013

Jadin

Jadin

Senior Vice President

and Chief Financial Officer

February 27 2013

K-64



GRA BEN NC AND SUBS DrANrES

Board ected by nrajorrty vote..... Yes

Majordy of rector rrdependent Yes

Se rte Charman CEO.... No

lr decor dent Lead Dr ector ... ....... Yes

lndep dont Board Atla or ar Nom tng Cc rnrrr ttee ........ Yes

Number of Boar meet ngs eld or schedu ed............

rectors ected cnrrual ..... Yes

Corporate govema go dehres Operat ng Pr rap es approcod by

tIre Board ..... Ye

Borrd plays actve oe rr
rrsk overs girt Yes

Independent Director rod meets gs vrthout managr ment present Yes

Board aporoved success orr pla place Yes

The pertormarrce of the Board is rev owed regu any Yes

the terforrnarce oleact Corrmtto is reaewed regularly Yes

Board roe mbers cor oct penod indradual set evaluations Yes

Board orerrtatr /educaton progrsnr Yes

Directs must ter ncr resignation up sutrstantrvo char go career

Cr Icr for Merr berstop Yes

Al rectors nrc expe ded to attend anrru shcreho ders erect op Yes

rectors attended at least 75 percent Board and Corrrm ttee rrreet ngs. Yes

Charters br Aod Cornpensaton and Board Affairs and

Nc rn na5rrg Conmu ee

Disclosure Cornrnrttee to ctro nancial rep rrt
ng

dependorrt Audit Cc nrm bee

Audit mittee Iris tinar cia expert

Audibo elected at nm recerrt an ba meet nc

For more mnforrnatmo on CorF orate Governance vrcmt www gral qer om

Comoarry ha sI areho der
riqtrts p1w

Sharehoders have crrrnLlative vol
ig rghtt

Shareho ders mov ca srrec at ineetin is

Ercrployees rrray vote ther shares rn corrrpmrnysponsorel 0mm

All stock based sicentive five boerm vpprcved by starehoder.

An doperrderrt tabulatcr tabulates shard oder vote

Cornoaiy posts ts arts es of rccrporotion arrd by awe on sobs to

Independent Corrrpens rt on Coos rttee

Board Compens ition Cc mr rttr has independent corrnpenatror cor ultan

Con perrsatiorr
sk asse sr ent corrducte

Tfe Corrrpany does not rave eripl yrnent agrcemerrt

Exec rtive comper sat orn ted to pertormarrce urr errc cr ter are oed

TL Cor rpanv has the abnlrtv to claw back ncer tve corps satr

CEO salary rs mo tfran troes salary oF next ghc rid

named executive offrcer ..

touttide rn

rca codr of

0150 rLipt on

Nc

Yo

Yes

Yrm

Yo

Yes

Yc

Yes

Ye

Ye

Ye

Yes



CiA No AND SO 3H

012

OtT 15 rrnuiq ON ncio aa toxe md

ci mi mirv ftc ni oc untr mq chanqo

irri ore urnulahv foci of sot ounhng oh inge

nula rye dcci of ccountrng chanqe

car ung ittrrbutahl to Grarnger Inc

mrkr apr00

Ic or proporty hur nq and equrprnenl and

prt rlr eottware

ci mci crnorte it nn

00

rot Id qurty

ih dcvii id ad

nq bt lose current malunt en

basic

nor IuKd

frvrdend paid

ol vJue

rc nt turn on avermqo shareholfecs oquity

rcent of return on average total caprtalisatron

or mg before in on taxes end cumulatrve effect

King oh iqo percent of net sales

irnrnq eftae urnu atrvo idler of ocr ou it nj

oh pi roent of ales

ard is erie it ci earninga

Ic percent of tot caphoborairon

rrer s0na apircorfo tolalarsds

or iset one it rabnrtres

iq Wfl sy turnover III

/verdf yin oryturirver 1110

voriqe number of har outtandrng barc 10

vormq number of shares outstandrnq diluted

Ni rib rite noloyeN III

urnt er outside sales pr ntatrven

Numbi of anohe

Nurribor Oc products in the Grarnqer catalog rssued February

Ire iou onny ilL rent nn orio yEars for 10 for chacgom rn iccu ur org ar ci unusu if Ii ms



WW 1RANCER NC ANI 1UB2IAAES

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

$6221 991 $680032 $0418014 $5 883.654 $5u2663 $0049.78u $4667014 $7643898

70/337 773218 681 861 603073 532 674 445139 38 090 39783/

276565 297863 261741 219624 186350 158216 154 119 62 343

430.466 475 355 420 120 383 399 346 324 286923 02697 235 488

23921
430 466 75355 420 120 383.399 346324 286923 226971 06/

026690 064094 1021 663 852.472 1290188 1108384 926 773 89881

142414 1949/5 197423 136764 157247 160768 80486 144052

140.974 135127 127282 11A28L1 105671 96305 08629 981

2131 515 144109 1800 817 1.862.086 1985.539 1744 416 1633413 1484 947

3726332 3a15 417 3094.028 046088 3.107 921 2809.573 624078 /3/448

2227199 2033 805 098108 177615 288976 067970 184a 135 166t 608

134684 121504 113093 97896 82663 243 67281 6646/

43 /500 488228 4895 895 4895 4895 94

5.70 6.07 5.01 4.36 3.87 318 2.90 2.30

5.62 5.97 91 24 3.78 3.13 46 224

78 1.55 1.34 0.99 0.79 i4 /2

3081 27.20 2640 25.90 25.ol 2283 20.27 1821

0683 78.84 87.52 60.94 71.10 66 62 4i .39

202 23.0 19.7 17.2 159 147

164 20.3 19.2 17.2 15.9 142 123 3.6

11 11.3 106 10.2 96 88 8.2 86

6.9 6.9 6.6 6.3

31.3 256 269 25.5 239 24.8 31

19.1 207 50 0.4 0.4 0.5

57.2 61.0 58.2 61.1 3.9 52 09
97 2.8 2.2 a.6 29

2.7 2.9 3.1 31 32 3.3 29 32
3.8 4.1 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 44

73 786 346 76579856 82 403958 87 838 /23 89568 746 90.206 90 /31 013 9198a430

74891892 77887620 84173381 90523 7/4 01588295 91 67337a 9394085 94 30347
18006 8334 18 036 7074 16 732 15.5 14701 36

2845 2433 386 805 250/ 154 /41 taO

612 617 610 593 989 582 iS

233.000 183000 139000 Ia000 82400 82300 88400 98700

NOTE ON ROC
Fro to January 2011 ROIC was calcu ated is nq annun oper sting can rigs

clv ded by 13 po mor averagc br ne work asotu Moang torward

ROIC wfl bo calculated us ng 5-powf quarterly average Mr ret workFrrg assets to prov de greater ar spa errcy
Nit work

13
asso ire vii rk

ig
rib nrr 10

vorkFrJ tab lWcs det ned as follows work
rig

assets equa total assels vs casl equ va errts rr oporang dolor rod ax rid ye to or

UI consohdated err litres plus the lEO reserve Work ng rabrl.tres are the sum of trade pdyables accrued or pew at xi and her etC cr ad co tr Sr

on ployee prof sh yr ng errs and accrued experrsos
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